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CORPORATE PROFILE  
Bauer Performance Sports Ltd. (TSX:BAU) is a leading developer and 
manufacturer of ice hockey, roller hockey and lacrosse equipment, as 
well as related apparel. Bauer is the most recognized and strongest 
brand in the ice hockey equipment industry, and holds the top market 
share position in both ice and roller hockey. Our products are marketed 
under the Bauer Hockey, Mission Roller Hockey and Maverik Lacrosse 
brand names and are distributed by sales representatives and 
independent distributors throughout the world.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this annual report constitute 
forward-looking statements within the meaning of 
applicable securities laws. Actual results could differ 
materially from those expressed in this report. To 
learn more about these risk factors, please refer 
to the Forward-Looking Statements section in 
the Management’s Discussion and Analysis and 
in the Annual Information Form filed on SEDAR.
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Throughout our 84-year history, we have focused on delivering 
innovative, high-performance sports equipment that meets the 
needs of athletes at all levels. In 2011 we once again raised 
that level of innovation with the introduction of the VAPOR APX 
skate. As a result of technologically advanced materials 
combined with our proprietary manufacturing process, the 
VAPOR APX is the lightest and best-performing VAPOR skate 
ever created and has quickly become the choice of top players 
around the world.
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PERFORMANCE  
THROUGH OUR RELENTLESS FLOW OF 

PRODUCT INNOVATION, WE ARE FOCUSED ON 
BUILDING OUR LEADERSHIP POSITION 

AND GROWING MARKET SHARE IN ALL PRODUCT 
CATEGORIES AT EVERY LEVEL.
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WORLD CLASS



1 STRONG, AUTHENTIC BRANDS Bauer’s iconic 
brand is synonymous with the game of hockey. Mission is 
the leading brand in the roller hockey equipment industry 

and Maverik’s cutting-edge brand is a market leader in its sport. 
The strength of these brands provides credibility and reliability 
for players at all levels.

2 INDUSTRY-LEADING R&D Our dedicated team of 
world-class designers and engineers continually develops 
innovative sports equipment that has become synonymous 

with quality and top-level performance. Our fi ve-year innovation 
cycle produces 100 to 150 revolutionary new products every year. 
We fully integrate our manufacturing partners into our R&D process 
to maintain a strong focus and disciplined cost management. Our 
$11.5 million investment in R&D this year – an 18% increase over 
the prior year – is a refl ection of our commitment to innovation.

3 DEEP CONSUMER INSIGHT We understand that 
consumer insights turned into the right product can 
result in powerful business results. We work directly with 

professional athletes, recreational players, coaches and parents 
to gain these valuable insights in our unending effort to develop 
revolutionary, game-changing products that athletes demand.

 2011 ANNUAL REPORT  BAUER PERFORMANCE SPORTS  3

4 PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGIES AND PATENTS 
We go to great lengths to protect our innovations and have 
established strong competitive barriers with our substantial 

library of more than 600 patents and registered trademarks, 
including an additional 50 patents pending today. A number of our 
existing patents can be applied to other product categories and 
our acquisition strategy is focused on those companies which hold 
strong intellectual property assets.

The competitive strengths that have driven our success in the ice hockey 
equipment market are the core strengths of our world-class performance sports 
platform. We successfully apply each of these platform elements to our existing 
brands and we strongly believe this platform will allow us to achieve success 
in future performance sports categories and markets.

SPORTS PLATFORM



DEDICATED TEAM
Like any winning team, our success is directly 
dependent on our entire roster. From our dedicated 
employees to our network of retailers, manufacturers 
and distribution partners, each team member plays 
a key role in bringing the most innovative, high-
performing sports products to market. The lifeblood 
of our organization is our passionate employees, 
who on average have been with us for more than 
10 years. It is their competitive spirit and love of 
sport that propels innovation and drives our growth. 
Like our devoted employees, our manufacturing 
partners are committed to quality and are dedicated 
to delivering the highest performing products at 
affordable prices. Our strategic distribution partners 
allow us to effectively deliver those innovative 
products to our diverse network of 3,700 retailers 
in more than 45 countries around the world. 
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FELLOW SHAREHOLDERS,

Fiscal year 2011 was an exciting time of innovation, achievement, 
and record growth for Bauer Performance Sports.
 Our strong results demonstrated our ability to continue to grow 
revenues faster than the industry in every product category and 
every region. We also executed our strategy to grow profi ts at a 
faster pace than revenues. While we grew our net sales by 19%, 
gross profi t increased by 34%, and adjusted EBITDA grew by 42%.  
 We also successfully integrated our fi rst non-hockey acquisition, 
Maverik Lacrosse, and completed our initial public offering on the 
Toronto Stock Exchange. 
 In addition to those achievements, we continued to deliver 
a relentless fl ow of high performing products and unveiled our 
most advanced skate ever, the VAPOR APX. The VAPOR name has 
become synonymous with elite-level hockey performance and with 
the APX, we have raised the bar even higher. The result is the most 
technologically advanced skate we have ever produced.

DURING FISCAL 2011 WE INCREASED OUR GLOBAL ICE HOCKEY 
EQUIPMENT MARKET SHARE FROM 45% TO A RECORD 49% 

This remarkable achievement, given our already signifi cant market 
share, was made possible by expanding the Bauer brand into new 
product categories, such as protective apparel, and by broadening 
market share in categories where we are already strong.
 For the fi rst time in our recent history, we won the leading 
market share in hockey sticks by growing this segment 28% over 
fi scal 2010. This achievement makes Bauer the global share leader 
in every hockey equipment category — skates, helmets, protective, 
goalie, roller and sticks.  
 Our retail partners continue to show confidence in Bauer 
products, as demonstrated by a record 32% growth in our “Back 
to Hockey” booking orders, resulting in strong revenue growth at 
the start of the season in the fourth quarter of fi scal 2011.

CHANGING THE GAME 
AT EVERY LEVEL

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

WE CONTINUE TO STRENGTHEN OUR PLATFORM TO CAPITALIZE 
ON THE ENORMOUS OPPORTUNITIES AHEAD

The key to Bauer’s rapid growth and operating profi tability is our 
world-class performance sports platform, which is enabling us to 
deliver success in ice hockey, lacrosse and roller hockey.
 Bauer’s cross-functional category teams are powering our 
growth in ice hockey and we continue to see opportunities for 
growth in every product category and region. In the past three 
years we have also made acquisitions that fueled our growth in 
roller hockey, protective apparel and the high-growth lacrosse 
market with our 2010 acquisition of Maverik Lacrosse. Adding 
these businesses to our platform has resulted in signifi cant 
revenue growth and market share gains. 
 In the fi scal year just ended, the introduction of our new 
protective apparel line powered a 22% increase in our apparel 
net revenues, our roller hockey net revenues increased by 15% 
following the launch of new innovative products and Maverik 
Lacrosse revenues increased over 55% in their first year 
leveraging the Bauer Performance Sports’ platform. We continue 
to invest resources in each of these areas and expect to expand 
our market share as the demand for our high-performance sports 
equipment escalates.
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WE ARE CHANGING THE GAME AT EVERY LEVEL

Products
Bauer has a long-standing reputation for superior performing 
products and continues to be the overwhelming brand of choice of 
the best hockey players in the world. We have strong relationships 
with the NHL, Hockey Canada and USA Hockey and we continue 
to work with them on adaptations and changes to equipment with 
a focus on improving performance and safety. 
  We know that athletes at every level of sport choose the 
equipment that helps them perform best. We invest countless 
hours listening to the needs of players of all ages and abilities 
to make sure that our product pipeline, which is fueled by a fi ve-
year innovation cycle, allows us to launch products that improve 
the performance of athletes at every level of play.

Consumers
In an effort to allow young athletes to experience Bauer products 
like the pros, we launched the Bauer Experience Tour, a grassroots 
program that allows thousands of kids around the world to try our 
latest elite products on ice. We don’t just show them the goods, 
we help them fi nd the right fi t in the products that suit them best 
and we give them an on-ice opportunity to work on their skills with 
some of our leading athletes.  

Customers
It is our belief that to ensure our consistent, profi table growth, 
our customers and industry must also be profi table. As such, it’s 
important that we cultivate strong connections with our customers, 
listen to their needs and help them achieve profi table growth. 
Bauer World, our annual event for the world’s largest and most 
successful hockey retail partners, has revolutionized the hockey 
industry. It is a one of a kind experience that allows us to engage in 
direct dialogue with our largest customers and give them the tools 
they need to grow and improve the profi tability of their businesses.  
 Game-changing initiatives such as Customer One, which 
includes an expanding real-time replenishment program, allows 
us to understand retailers’ stock availability and provide them 
with inventory to keep their business running smoothly.  We began 
a pilot of this successful program in fi scal 2011 and we plan to 
double the number of customers we work with over the course of 
fi scal 2012.

WE IMPROVED OPERATIONS ACROSS ALL BUSINESS UNITS  

Like all manufacturers, we are experiencing cost pressures in raw 
materials, labour and currency.  We constantly seek ways to reduce 
the cost of our products and improve the effi ciency of our supply 
chain. We continually design cost reductions into our products, 
incorporating less expensive and better performing materials 
while also perfecting lower-cost methods of manufacturing. This 
process not only improves our profi tability, but also helps us fi nd 
ways to bring better performing products to the consumer at all 
price points. These continued efforts produced strong gross 

margin improvements in fi scal 2011, where we increased gross 
margin as a percentage of sales by 430 basis points.
 We take very seriously the impact that economic pressures 
have on our athletes and their families, and consistently strive 
to deliver the highest performing products at every price point. 
As part of this commitment, we ensure that our significant 
investments in research and development yield performance 
enhancements in all of our products. Notably, retail prices for our 
entry-level products have remained relatively unchanged for many 
years while the performance of those products has increased 
signifi cantly, delivering real value for consumers.

GOING FORWARD

Growth is critical to Bauer’s future success. Our global growth 
strategy includes increasing ice and roller hockey share by 
continuing our relentless flow of innovative, performance-
enhancing products at all levels, targeting emerging markets 
(particularly ice hockey in Russia), growing our apparel offerings 
across all categories, capitalizing on the rapidly growing sport of 
lacrosse and pursuing strategic acquisitions.
 Against this backdrop, we look to apply our growth and 
improvement strategies with particular emphasis on:

• Adding new product lines that can be sold through our 
existing channels

• Maximizing economies of scale through cost controls and 
streamlined distribution

• Preserving our fi nancial strength and fl exibility to enable us 
to act on strategic acquisition opportunities 

 Core to this strategy is delivering top-quality, innovative 
products to the marketplace, maintaining deep connections with 
athletes and working with customers in innovative ways to help 
us all achieve greater growth and profi tability.

THIS IS WHAT WE DO AND WE HAVE NO INTENTION 
OF SLOWING DOWN

Building our platform for success and growth has not been 
easy. Together we have achieved great milestones, and we are 
just getting started. I welcome the challenges ahead and the 
opportunity to share the future success of this great organization 
with each of you.

I’d like to thank the Bauer Performance Sports team—our Board of 
Directors, management, customers, manufacturing partners and 
most of all, our employees. To my fellow shareholders, thank you 
for your confi dence. We are committed to delivering strong returns 
and a growing business. 

Kevin Davis
President and Chief Executive Offi cer
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THE GAME’S BEST CHOOSE BAUER
In the fi nal, most watched series of the NHL season, 
the vast majority of players from the Boston Bruins 
and the Vancouver Canucks chose Bauer equipment 
in their quest for the 2011 Stanley Cup. In the fi ve 
major player equipment categories of sticks, skates, 
gloves, helmets and pants, Bauer Hockey was 
overwhelmingly the No. 1 brand of choice.

SKATES

84%

HELMETS

61%

GLOVES

61%

PANTS

56%

STICKS

53%

THE NHL’S TOP BRAND
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SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(US$ MILLIONS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)  2011 2010

Net Revenues $ 306.1 $ 257.4

Gross Profi t  119.1  89.1

Adjusted EBITDA 1  43.5  30.7

Net income (loss)  0.4  2.4

 As adjusted 2  16.7  (0.9)

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share  0.01  0.08

 As adjusted 2 $ 0.55 $ (0.03)

1 Non-Canadian GAAP measure

2 Excluding IPO costs and unrealized loss/gain on foreign exchange

FINANCIAL AND 
OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS
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MARKET SHARE LEADERSHIP

In 2011, our ice hockey equipment market share 
increased to a record 49%, demonstrating strong 
consumer demand for our products. For the fi rst time 
in the company’s history, we took the leading market 
share position in sticks, bringing Bauer equipment to 
No. 1 market share position in all equipment categories. 

2011

42%

49%

2009200820072006

41%

28%

35%

45%

2010



NET REVENUE 
GROWTH 
(US$ millions) 

Our strong growth was driven by 
increased sales in all product 
categories, including the sales of 
lacrosse equipment and apparel, 
which was not offered in 2010.

2008 2009 2010 2011

$257.4$242.2
$219.5

$306.1
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38%
YEAR-OVER-YEAR GROWTH 
IN PERFORMANCE APPAREL 

NET REVENUES

2011 was a milestone year at 
Bauer Performance Sports as we 
delivered strong growth in revenue, 
gross profi t and adjusted EBITDA. 
By continuing to invest in R&D 
and enhancing our overall brand 
presence at retail, we delivered 
high-performing, quality products 
that created unprecedented 
consumer demand. We also 
remain focused on improvements 
in productivity, cost reduction 
and supply-chain effi ciencies to 
improve our profi tability.

#1
MARKET SHARE IN ALL ICE HOCKEY 

PRODUCT CATEGORIES (SKATES, STICKS, 
PROTECTIVE, GOALIE, HELMETS) 

55%
GLOBAL ROLLER HOCKEY 

EQUIPMENT MARKET SHARE

19%
IMPROVEMENT 
TO GROSS PROFIT 
(US$ millions) 

We have been able to increase 
gross profi t margins through 
continued emphasis on reducing 
cost of goods and improving supply 
chain effi ciencies.

34%

$89.1

$55.0

$80.4

$119.1

2008 2009 2010 2011

GROWTH IN 
ADJUSTED EBITDA 
(US$ millions) 

As we continue to expand 
our offering, our scale and strong 
operating leverage allow us 
to grow our profi tability faster 
than revenues.

42%

$30.7
$27.1

$22.9

$43.5

2008 2009 2010 2011



OUR GROWTH 
STRATEGIES IN ACTION

GROWTH RATE IN ICE 
HOCKEY PARTICIPATION IN 
THE UNITED STATES FROM 
2006 TO 2010. The sport of 
ice hockey continues to attract 
new players. As an industry leader, 
we continue to invest in grassroots 
initiatives to help grow the game. 
From providing access to 
equipment, to promoting education 
and awareness of safety issues 
in the sport, we are focused on 
increasing participation throughout 
the world.
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ICE HOCKEY PARTICIPATION

APPAREL BUSINESS
In 2009 we targeted the performance segment of the $300 million 
hockey apparel market that includes base layer, jock shorts and neck 
protection. Following the launch of our integrated neck protection 
piece, our performance apparel sales have grown 442% over the past 
two years. This revolutionary product is an important driver of our 
growth in this market and is driving growth across all our apparel 
categories. During fi scal 2011, apparel net revenues increased 22%. 
Sales of lifestyle and team apparel continue to grow, thanks in part to 
successful test marketing initiatives and exclusive partnerships with 
leading suppliers, such as New Era.

INCREASE IN REGISTERED 
PARTICIPATION IN WOMEN’S 
HOCKEY FROM 1999 TO 2009. 
As women’s hockey participation 
grows, we are poised to be 
responsive to the needs of female 
players at all levels. We have 
invested resources in product 
development and introduced 
unique marketing initiatives, 
including an exclusive partnership 
with the Canadian Women’s 
Hockey League. 

101%
INCREASE IN HOCKEY 
REGISTRATION IN RUSSIA 
AND EASTERN EUROPE FROM 
1999 TO 2009. These markets 
represent a signifi cant opportunity 
for us, especially leading up to the 
2014 Winter Olympics in Sochi, 
Russia. As demand continues to 
grow, we are increasing overall 
marketing resources and working 
closely with our global distribution 
partners to ensure that we are well 
positioned to capture market share 
growth in this important region.

61% 27%

Increasing our overall ice hockey and roller hockey business is essential for our future growth and we 
remain committed to delivering a continuous stream of innovative, high-performing products in these core 
product categories. Expanding our apparel business, targeting strategic acquisitions, and capitalizing on 
increased participation and emerging markets are also key growth opportunities.

STRATEGIC 
ACQUISITIONS
Our acquisition strategy is focused 
on companies and brands that 
are – or have the potential to 
become – market leaders in 
their relevant category. 
Acquisition targets must have 
the ability to leverage our 
world-class performance sports 
platform, have a strong and 
authentic brand and deliver 
innovative performance products. 

The Maverik business grew 
more than 55% in its fi rst year 
under Bauer Performance Sports 
and we see steady growth as 
the brand continues to launch 
innovative new products and 
expand into key retailers. 
Maverik will soon be on the same 
fi ve-year product innovation 
cycle that made us leaders in 
the hockey business.

We actively review 
performance sports and apparel 
companies that would benefi t 
from our platform and scale.



OVECHKIN JOINS 
BAUER ROSTER OF 
ATHLETES 
Superstar Alex Ovechkin has offi cially joined 
the roster of Bauer athletes with a multi-
year endorsement deal. Considered by many 
as the most exciting player in the NHL, the 
Washington Capitals forward will exclusively 
wear Bauer equipment beginning in the 
2011-12 season. The Russian native has 
earned the Hart Memorial Trophy as the 
NHL’s Most Valuable Player twice since 
joining the league in 2006 and has also led 
the league in goals in two different seasons. 
The 25-year-old is the only player in league 
history to be named to the NHL First All 
Star Team in each of his fi rst fi ve seasons. 
To date, Ovechkin has scored 301 goals 
and registered 313 assists in 475 career 
NHL games.
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THE BAUER ROSTER
Alex Ovechkin joins an elite roster 
of Bauer athletes who are pushing the 
game to new heights:

Nicklas Backstrom, Washington Capitals
Jeff Carter, Columbus Blue Jackets
Claude Giroux, Philadelphia Flyers
Jack Johnson, Los Angeles Kings
Patrick Kane, Chicago Blackhawks
Ryan Kesler, Vancouver Canucks
Phil Kessel, Toronto Maple Leafs
Miikka Kiprusoff, Calgary Flames
Henrik Lundqvist, New York Rangers
Mike Richards, Los Angeles Kings
Luke Schenn, Toronto Maple Leafs
Tyler Seguin, Boston Bruins
Jeff Skinner, Carolina Hurricanes
Eric Staal, Carolina Hurricanes
Jordan Staal, Pittsburgh Penguins
Mark Staal, New York Rangers
Steven Stamkos, Tampa Bay Lightning
Jonathan Toews, Chicago Blackhawks
Tomas Vokoun, Washington Capitals



As one of the leading brands in the industry, we have a responsibility 
to give back to the community and do our part to ensure those who 
participate in our sports enjoy them the very fi rst time they lace up the 
skates or pick up a lacrosse stick. Whether it’s educating parents on 
the latest safety information or donating equipment to youth programs in 
need, it is our goal to grow participation and enjoyment of all sports 
in the Bauer Performance Sports portfolio. 

OUR 
RESPONSIBILITY
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INTRODUCTION

The following management discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) dated August 17, 2011 is intended to assist the readers in 
understanding Bauer Performance Sports Ltd. (“Bauer” or the “Company”), its business environment, strategies, performance 
and risk factors. It should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated financial statements, including the related notes 
for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010. Financial data has been prepared in conformity with Canadian generally 
accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). It should also be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements 
for the fiscal years ended May 31, 2010, May 31, 2009 and May 31, 2008 and related notes, management’s discussion and analysis 
and the Canadian GAAP reconciliations, which can be found in the Company’s final prospectus dated March 3, 2011 available on 
the Company’s website at www.bauerperformancesports.com or on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
 The Company directly or indirectly owns all of the equity interest in each of Kohlberg Sports Group Inc. (“KSGI”), Bauer Hockey, 
Inc., Bauer Hockey Corp., and Maverik Lacrosse, LLC (“Maverik”). The Company, together with its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
referred to as the “Company”, “we”, “us”, or “our”.
 All references to “Fiscal 2009” are to KSGI’s fiscal year ended May 31, 2009, to “Fiscal 2010” are to KSGI’s fiscal year ended  
May 31, 2010 and to “Fiscal 2011” are to Bauer Performance Sports Ltd.’s fiscal year ended May 31, 2011. Our functional and reporting 
currency is the U.S. dollar.  Unless otherwise indicated, all references to “$” and “dollars” in this discussion and analysis mean U.S. 
dollars.  Any references to market share data and market size are based on wholesale net revenues unless otherwise indicated.
 Certain measures used in this MD&A do not have any standardized naming under Canadian GAAP. When used, these measures 
are defined in such terms as to allow the reconciliation to the closest Canadian GAAP measure. It is unlikely that these measures 
could be compared to similar measures presented by other companies. See “GAAP and non-GAAP Measures”.
 Forward-looking statements are included in this MD&A. See “Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” below for 
a discussion of risks, uncertainties and assumptions relating to these statements. For a description of the risks relating to the 
Company, refer to the “Risk Factors” section of this MD&A and the “Risk Factors” section of Bauer’s final prospectus.
 Please refer to the “Glossary of Terms” in Appendix “A” for a list of defined terms used herein.

CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this MD&A about our current and future plans, expectations and intentions, results, levels of activity, 
performance, goals or achievements or any other future events or developments constitute forward-looking statements. The words 
“may”, “will”, “would”, “should”, “could”, “expects”, “plans”, “intends”, “trends”, “indications”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, 
“predicts”, “likely” or “potential” or the negative or other variations of these words or other comparable words or phrases, are 
intended to identify forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements are based on estimates and assumptions made by 
us in light of our experience and perception of historical trends, current conditions and expected future developments, as well 
as other factors that we believe are appropriate and reasonable in the circumstances, but there can be no assurance that such 
estimates and assumptions will prove to be correct. Certain assumptions in respect of the determination of the impairment of 
losses, claim liabilities, income taxes, employee future benefits, goodwill and intangibles are material factors made in preparing 
forward-looking information and management’s expectations. Many factors could cause our actual results, level of activity, 
performance or achievements or future events or developments to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward- 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION 
AND ANALYSIS 
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

FINANCIAL REPORTING FOR 2011
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

looking statements, including, without limitation, the following factors: inability to introduce new and innovative products, intense 
competition in the equipment and apparel industries, inability to introduce technical innovation, inability to protect worldwide 
intellectual property rights, decrease in ice hockey, roller hockey and/or lacrosse participation rates, adverse publicity, inability 
to maintain and enhance brands, reliance on third party suppliers and manufacturers, disruption of distribution chain or loss of 
significant customers or suppliers, cost of raw materials, shipping costs and other cost pressures, protection of trademarks and 
other proprietary rights, weather conditions or seasonal fluctuations in the demand for our products, a change in the mix or timing 
of orders placed by customers, change in sales mix towards larger customers, inability to forecast demand for products, sell-
through of our products at retail, inventory shrinkage or excess inventory, inability to expand into international market segments, 
product liability claims and product recalls, compliance with standards of testing and athletic governing bodies, departure of senior 
executives or other key personnel, litigation, employment or union related matters, disruption of information technology systems, 
restrictive covenants in our New Credit Facility (defined herein), anticipated levels of indebtedness, inability to translate booking 
orders into realized sales, inability to generate sufficient cash to service all the Company’s indebtedness, inability to continue 
making strategic acquisitions, fluctuations in the value of certain foreign currencies, including but not limited to the Canadian 
dollar, euro, Swedish krona, Chinese renminbi, Taiwan dollar and Thai baht, in relation to the U.S. dollar, general economic and 
market conditions, current adverse economic conditions, changes in consumer preferences and the difficulty in anticipating or 
forecasting those changes, changes in government regulations, inability of counterparties and customers to meet their financial 
obligations, natural disasters, IFRS transition implications, as well as the factors identified in the “Risk Factors” section of Bauer’s 
final prospectus. Such factors are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors that could affect us; however, these 
factors should be considered carefully. The purpose of the forward-looking statements is to provide the reader with a description 
of management’s expectations regarding the Company’s financial performance and may not be appropriate for other purposes; 
readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements made herein. Furthermore, unless otherwise stated, the 
forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are made as of August 17, 2011, and we have no intention and undertake no 
obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, 
except as required by law. The forward-looking statements contained in this MD&A are expressly qualified by this cautionary 
statement.

GAAP AND NON-GAAP MEASURES

This MD&A makes reference to certain non-Canadian GAAP measures. These non-Canadian GAAP measures are not recognized 
measures under Canadian GAAP, do not have a standardized meaning prescribed by Canadian GAAP and are therefore unlikely to 
be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. Rather, these measures are provided as additional information 
to complement those Canadian GAAP measures by providing further understanding of the Company’s results of operations from 
management’s perspective. Accordingly, they should not be considered in isolation nor as a substitute for analysis of the Company’s 
financial information reported under Canadian GAAP. We use non-Canadian GAAP measures such as Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted 
Gross Profit and EBITDA to provide investors with a supplemental measure of our operating performance and thus highlight 
trends in our core business that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on Canadian GAAP financial measures. We 
also believe that securities analysts, investors and other interested parties frequently use non-Canadian GAAP measures in the 
evaluation of issuers. We also use non-Canadian GAAP measures in order to facilitate operating performance comparisons from 
period to period, prepare annual operating budgets and assess our ability to meet our future debt service, capital expenditure and 
working capital requirements. We refer the reader to “Financial Measures and Key Performance Indicators” for the definition and 
reconciliation of EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Gross Profit used and presented by the Company to the most directly 
comparable Canadian GAAP measures.

COMPANY OVERVIEW

We are the world’s leading designer, developer, manufacturer, and marketer of ice and roller hockey equipment and related apparel. 
With the Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition in June 2010, we also offer lacrosse equipment and related apparel. We have the most 
recognized and strongest brand in the ice hockey equipment industry, and hold the number one market share position in both 
the ice and roller hockey equipment industries. With an estimated 49% share of ice hockey equipment sales in Fiscal 2011, we 
have the leading and fastest growing share of the overall ice hockey equipment market, which we estimate to be more than that 
of the next three brands combined. In roller hockey, we had an estimated 55% share of sales in Fiscal 2011. We have achieved 
this leadership position in ice hockey by leveraging our world-class performance sports products platform. Additionally, we have 
demonstrated our ability to expand the platform into new performance equipment sports markets by successfully entering the 
roller hockey and lacrosse markets.
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FISCAL 2011 HIGHLIGHTS

Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2011
•	 Net	revenues	increased	18.9%	to	$306.1	million,	up	from	$257.4	million	in	2010.
•	 Gross	profit	improved	by	33.6%	to	$119.1	million	(38.9%	of	net	revenues)	compared	to	$89.1	million	(34.6%	of	net	revenues)	

in 2010.
•	 Adjusted	EBITDA	grew	41.7%	to	$43.5	million	compared	to	$30.7	million	during	the	same	period	in	2010.
•	 Net	income	increased	$17.6	million	to	$16.7	million	compared	to	a	net	loss	of	$0.9	million	in	2010	excluding	costs	related	

to the Company’s 2011 initial public offering (“IPO costs”) and unrealized (non-cash) losses/gains on foreign exchange in 
both years.  Including these items, reported net income declined to $0.4 million compared to $2.4 million in 2010.

•	 Basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	excluding	IPO	costs	and	unrealized	loss/gain	on	foreign	exchange	in	both	years	
increased $0.58 to $0.55 in 2011 from a net loss per share of $0.03 in 2010.  Including these items, reported earnings per 
share (“EPS”) decreased to $0.01 in 2011 from $0.08 in 2010. 

•	 In	conjunction	with	the	IPO,	the	Company	recapitalized	its	short	and	long-term	debt,	reducing	interest	expense	by	
approximately $1 million per quarter (pre-tax).  The net income and EPS figures cited herein have not been adjusted to 
reflect this benefit for periods prior to March 10, 2011, the effective date of the IPO.

•	 Bauer	increased	its	ice	hockey	equipment	market	share	to	49%	from	45%	in	2010.

Fourth Quarter Ended May 31, 2011
•	 Net	revenues	increased	13.3%	to	$68.2	million	from	$60.2	million	in	the	same	period	of	the	prior	year.
•	 Gross	profit	rose	21.7%	to	$30.8	million	(45.2%	of	net	revenues)	compared	to	$25.3	million	(42.0%	of	net	revenues)	in	the	

fourth quarter of 2010.
•	 Adjusted	EBITDA	improved	21.7%	to	$10.1	million	compared	to	$8.3	million	during	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010.
•	 Net	income	increased	$4.9	million	to	$3.4	million,	up	from	a	net	loss	of	$1.5	million	in	the	fourth	quarter	of	2010	excluding	

IPO costs and unrealized gains on foreign exchange in both periods.  Including these items, reported net loss was $2.2 
million compared to net income of $1.2 million in the fourth quarter of 2010.

•	 Basic	and	diluted	EPS	excluding	IPO	costs	and	unrealized	gains	on	foreign	exchange	in	both	periods	increased	$0.16	to	
$0.11 from a net loss per share of $0.05 in the fourth quarter of 2010.  Including these items, reported net loss per share was 
$0.07, a decrease from EPS of $0.03 in the fourth quarter of 2010.

•	 The	Company	relocated	its	headquarters	from	Greenland,	New	Hampshire	to	Exeter,	New	Hampshire.

RECENT EVENTS

On March 10, 2011, the Company completed its initial public offering (“IPO”) by issuing 10,000,000 Common Shares at a price 
of $7.50 Canadian dollars per share resulting in gross proceeds of $75.0 million Canadian dollars. The Company also granted to 
the underwriters of the IPO an over-allotment option, exercisable, in whole or in part, at the sole discretion of the underwriters, for 
a period of 30 days from the closing of the IPO, to purchase up to an additional 1,500,000 Common Shares for aggregate gross 
proceeds	of	$86.3	million	Canadian	dollars.	
 As the over-allotment option was exercised in part on April 8, 2011, the Company acquired 100% of KSGI from the Existing 
Holders (the “Acquisition”) in exchange for a combination of Common Shares and Proportionate Voting Shares representing a 
65.6%	equity	and	voting	interest	in	the	Company	(54.6%	on	a	fully	diluted	basis),	plus	$73.0	million	Canadian	dollars	in	cash	being	
the net proceeds of the IPO and the over-allotment option received by the Company (exclusive of expenses of the IPO and the 
over-allotment option). Concurrently with the closing of the IPO, the material operating subsidiaries of the Company, being Bauer 
Hockey Corp. (the “Canadian Borrower”) and Bauer Hockey, Inc. (the “U.S. Borrower”, and together with the Canadian Borrower, 
the “Borrowers”), entered into an amended and restated senior secured credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions (the 
“New Credit Facility”). The New Credit Facility is comprised of a (i) $100.0 million term loan facility, denominated in both Canadian 
dollars and U.S. dollars (the “Term Loan”) and (ii) $100.0 million Revolving Loan (the “Revolving Loan”), denominated in both 
Canadian dollars and U.S. dollars, the availability of which is subject to meeting certain borrowing base requirements. The Revolving 
Loan includes a $20.0 million letter of credit subfacility and a $10.0 million swing line loan subfacility. In addition, the Borrowers 
may, under certain circumstances and subject to receipt of additional commitments from existing lenders and/or new lenders, 
increase the size of the New Credit Facility in an aggregate amount of up to $30.0 million. The Term Loan and the Revolving Loan 
each	mature	on	March	10,	2016.	See	“Indebtedness”.
 In connection with the IPO and Acquisition, vesting of all predecessor options was accelerated. Also, in conjunction with the 
IPO, Bauer assumed the Predecessor Plan (as modified, the “Rollover Plan”) and all fully vested predecessor options outstanding 
were exchanged for fully vested and exercisable options (the “rollover options”) to purchase common shares of Bauer such that 
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the fair market value of the rollover options (determined as the “spread” or excess of the fair market value of a Common Share 
over the exercise price of the rollover option) was no greater than the fair market value of the predecessor options so exchanged 
(determined as the spread between the fair market value of an ordinary share of KSGI over the predecessor option exercise price). 
The exchange of options was completed in consideration of existing provisions in the Predecessor Plan. The terms of the Rollover 
Plan are substantially similar to the terms of the 2011 Plan except that all rollover options are fully vested and no further options 
may be granted under the Rollover Plan. An aggregate of 5,119,815 rollover options being issued and remains outstanding at  
May 31, 2011. 

FINANCIAL MEASURES AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Key performance indicators which we use to manage our business and evaluate our financial results and operating performance 
include: net revenues, gross profit, Adjusted Gross Profit, selling, general and administrative expenses, research and development 
expenses, net income, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA. We evaluate our performance on these metrics by comparing our actual 
results to management budgets, forecasts, and prior period results on a reported and constant dollar basis.
 EBITDA, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Gross Profit are non-Canadian GAAP measures that we use to assess the operating 
performance of the business.
 EBITDA is defined as net income adjusted for income tax expense, depreciation and amortization, gain or loss on disposal 
of fixed assets, net interest expense, unrealized gain/loss on derivatives instruments, early extinguishment of debt, the non-
cash realized loss on derivatives and the foreign exchange gain/loss. We use EBITDA to assess our operating performance.  
A reconciliation of EBITDA to net income is provided further below.
 Adjusted EBITDA is defined as EBITDA before restructuring and acquisition related charges associated with acquisitions, 
sponsor fees and fees related to the IPO, normalization adjustments relating to the Business Purchase as well as normalized 
stock-based compensation expenses. We use Adjusted EBITDA as the key metric in assessing our business performance when 
we compare results to budgets, forecasts, and prior years. Management believes Adjusted EBITDA is an important measure of 
operating performance and cash flow, and provides useful information to investors because it highlights trends in the business 
that may not otherwise be apparent when relying solely on Canadian GAAP measures and eliminates items that have less bearing 
on operating performance and cash flow. It is an alternative to measure business performance to net income and income from 
operations, and management believes Adjusted EBITDA is a better measure of cash flow generation than, for example, cash flow 
from operations, particularly because it removes cash flow fluctuations caused by extraordinary changes in working capital. 
Adjusted EBITDA is used by management in the assessment of business performance and used by our Board of Directors as 
well as our lenders in assessing management’s performance. It is also the key metric in determining incentive payment plans. A 
reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income is provided further below. 
 Adjusted Gross Profit is gross profit plus the following expenses which are part of cost of goods sold: (i) amortization,  
(ii) non-cash charges to cost of goods sold resulting from fair market value adjustments to inventory, and (iii) reserves established 
to dispose of obsolete inventory acquired through acquisitions. We use Adjusted Gross Profit as a key performance measure to 
assess our core gross profit and as a supplemental measure to evaluate the overall operating performance of our cost of goods 
sold. A reconciliation of gross profit to Adjusted Gross Profit is provided below.
 The table below provides the reconciliation of gross profit to Adjusted Gross Profit in millions of U.S. dollars:

  Fiscal Year Ended  Three Months Ended
  May 31,  May 31,

(dollars in millions)  2011  2010  2009  2011  2010

Gross profit Canadian GAAP  $ 119.1  $ 89.1  $ 55.0  $ 30.8  $ 25.3

Amortization of intangible assets (1)   3.2   3.7   4.1   0.7   0.9
Restructuring charges
 Inventory step-up/step-down & reserves (2)   0.6		 	 5.1		 	 26.5		 	 0.1   2.7

Adjusted Gross Profit  $ 122.9		 $	 97.9		 $	 85.6		 $ 31.6  $ 28.9

(1) Upon completion of the acquisition of the Bauer Business by the Existing Holders in April 2008, Bauer capitalized acquired intangible assets at 
fair market value. These intangible assets, in addition to other intangible assets subsequently acquired, are amortized over their useful life and we 
recognize the amortization as a non-cash cost of goods sold.
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(2) Upon completion of the acquisition of the Bauer Business by the Existing Holders in April 2008, Bauer adjusted its inventories to fair market value. 
Included in Fiscal 2009 through Fiscal 2010 are non-cash charges to cost of goods sold resulting from the fair market value adjustment to inventory 
recognized in April 2008 for Bauer Hockey. In addition Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2010 include the fair market value adjustments to cost of goods sold for 
the Mission-ITECH Acquisition. In Fiscal 2011 the non-cash charges to cost of goods sold result from the fair market value adjustment to inventory 
for the Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition. This line also includes non-recurring inventory reserves established to dispose of Nike Bauer branded and 
Mission-ITECH branded in Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2010, and Maverik branded inventory in Fiscal 2011.

 
 The table below provides the reconciliation of net income to EBITDA and to Adjusted EBITDA in millions of U.S. dollars:

  Fiscal Year Ended  Three Months Ended
  May 31,  May 31,

(dollars in millions)  2011  2010  2009  2011  2010

Net income Canadian GAAP  $ 0.4  $ 2.4  $ (18.9)  $ (2.2)  $ 1.2

 Income tax expense (benefit)   0.4		 	 3.8		 	 (11.6)		 	 (1.0)		 	 1.6
 Depreciation & amortization   7.8		 	 7.6		 	 8.0		 	 1.8   2.1
 Realized loss on derivatives & loss on extinguishment on debt (1)   3.6   –   –   3.6   –
 Net (gain)/loss on disposal of fixed assets   –   0.8   –   (0.1)   0.4
 Interest expense, net   10.4   10.9   11.8   1.4		 	 2.6
 Deferred financing fees   1.5		 	 0.7		 	 0.6		 	 0.9   0.1
Foreign exchange (gain) loss (2)  9.0   (5.8)   5.6   (0.9)   (3.5)
 Unrealized (gain) loss on derivatives instruments, net   12.4   (4.8)   0.1   (0.8)   (4.0)
 Foreign exchange (gain) loss   (3.4)   (1.0)   5.5   (0.0)   0.4
Extraordinary gain (3)   –   –   (5.7)   –   –

EBITDA  $ 33.1  $ 20.4  $ (10.2)  $ 3.5  $ 4.5

Restructuring Charges
 Inventory step-up/step-down & reserves (4)   0.6		 	 5.0		 	 26.5		 	 0.1		 	 2.6
 Rebranding/one-time costs (5)   0.5   3.0   3.5   0.2   0.2
 Mission-ITECH shutdown	(6)   –   –   4.9   –   –
 Acquisition costs (7)   0.2   0.5   (0.1)   0.1   0.5
 Maverik growth investment (8)   0.3   –   –   –   –

Subtotal  $ 1.6  $ 8.5  $ 34.8  $ 0.4  $ 3.3

Sponsor & IPO expenses (9) $ 8.2  $ 1.5  $ 1.7  $ 5.4  $ 0.4

Stock option expense, net of adjustments  $ 0.6  $ 0.3  $ 0.8  $ 0.8  $ 0.2

Adjusted EBITDA  $ 43.5  $ 30.7  $ 27.1  $ 10.1  $ 8.3

(1)  In Fiscal 2011 the realized loss on derivatives of $0.8 million arose from the settlement of an interest rate swap agreement. The loss on the early 
extinguishment of debt was $2.8 million. Both of these are non-cash expenses and are related to the IPO and to the termination of the Old Credit 
Facility.

(2)  The unrealized gain and loss on derivatives is the change in fair market value on the foreign exchange swaps, the foreign currency forward contracts, 
and the interest rate contracts. The Company has not elected hedge accounting and therefore the changes in the fair value of these derivatives are 
recognized in current period earnings. Transaction gains and losses generated by the effect of foreign exchange on recorded assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency different from the functional currency of the applicable entity are recorded in exchange losses (gains), net in the period in 
which they occur.

(3)  On September 22, 2008, we purchased all of the issued and outstanding shares of the capital stock of Mission-ITECH. The total cash consideration 
was $23.9 million excluding transaction costs. Transaction costs associated with the acquisition were $2.3 million. The allocation of the purchase 
price to the individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed under the purchase method of accounting included in the Fiscal 2009 balance sheet 
resulted in $16.9 million of negative goodwill which was allocated to reduce non-current assets, excluding deferred income taxes, by $11.2 million 
with the remainder of $5.7 million recognized as an extraordinary gain in Fiscal 2009.

(4)  Upon completion of the acquisition by the Existing Holders of the Bauer Business in April 2008, Bauer adjusted its inventories to fair market value. 
Included in Fiscal 2009 through Fiscal 2010 are non-cash charges to cost of goods sold resulting from the fair market value adjustment to inventory 
recognized in April 2008 for Bauer Hockey. In addition Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2010 include the fair market value adjustments to cost of goods sold for 
the Mission-ITECH Acquisition. In Fiscal 2011 the non-cash charges to cost of goods sold result from the fair market value adjustment to inventory 
for the Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition. This line also includes non-recurring inventory reserves established to dispose of Nike Bauer branded and 
Mission-ITECH branded in Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2010, and Maverik branded inventory in Fiscal 2011.
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(5)  For the three and twelve month period ended May 31, 2011, the amounts shown relate to one-time costs associated with the Maverik Lacrosse 
Acquisition. Rebranding and one-time costs of $3.0 million were incurred in Fiscal 2010 including (i) $2.8 million in costs to transition the Nike Bauer 
brand and the corporate identity to the Bauer brand and corporate identity, and (ii) $0.2 million in costs associated with management changes, 
including but not limited to executive search fees, reimbursements of relocation costs, and related hiring costs associated with the separation from 
Nike. In Fiscal 2009 the rebranding and one-time costs of $3.5 million included (1) $0.5 million for the North American 3PL startup in Chicago, IL, 
and (2) $3.0 million of costs to transition the Nike Bauer brand and the corporate identity to the Bauer brand and corporate identity.

(6)  The restructuring expenses associated with the Mission-ITECH shutdown over a period of nine month following the acquisition in September 2008. 
These restructuring expenses included retention payments to key employees, brand transition expenses, increased sales commissions, and increased 
marketing related expenses incurred to liquidate Mission-ITECH branded inventory.

(7)  Acquisition related transaction costs including legal, audit, information systems and operations consulting costs, incurred as part of the Maverik 
Lacrosse Acquisition in June 2010 and transaction costs related to a review of corporate opportunities in April 2011. In Fiscal 2010, we incurred $0.5 
million of transaction costs related to the Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition. In Fiscal 2011, we incurred $0.1 million of transaction costs related to the 
Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition and $0.1 million of transaction costs related to reviewing corporate opportunities.

(8)  The Maverik growth investments include an increase in wages to key employees and additional compensation costs related to new hires at Maverik 
which are designed to support the business of Maverik during its initial start-up phase of growth for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011.

(9)  The Company incurred sponsor fees of $1.2 million, $1.5 million and $1.7 million in Fiscal 2011, Fiscal 2010, and Fiscal 2009 respectively. Upon the 
termination of the Management Services Agreement a fee of $4.0 million in Fiscal 2011 was paid at the time to the IPO. Also included in Fiscal 2011 
are $3.0 million in costs related to the IPO.

FACTORS AFFECTING OUR PERFORMANCE

Net Revenues
We generate net revenues from the sale of performance sports equipment and related apparel. We offer various cooperative 
marketing incentive programs in North America to assist our sales channels to market and sell our products. These costs are 
recorded as a reduction of net revenues.
 Our current sales channels include (i) retailers in North America and the Nordic countries, and (ii) distributors throughout the 
rest of the world (principally Western Europe, Eastern Europe, and Russia). Based on the regional mix above, our revenues are 
generated in multiple currencies in each period. For net revenues, we are exposed to fluctuations of the U.S. dollar against the 
Canadian dollar, the euro, the Swedish krona, Norwegian krona and Danish krona. The following table highlights net revenues for 
the periods indicated in millions of U.S. dollars, except for percentages.

   Year Year  Year
  Fiscal Year Ended Over Year Over Year Three Months Ended, Over Year
  May 31, Growth Growth May 31, Growth
(dollars in millions except for percentages) 2011  2010  2009  Rate(1) Rate(2) 2011  2010 Rate(3)

Net revenues
 North America  $ 229.9		 $	189.5		 $	176.9		 	21.3%		 	 7.1%		 $ 50.7  $ 43.3   17.1%
 Rest of world   76.2		 	 67.9		 	 65.3		 	12.2%		 	 4.0%		 	 17.5		 	 16.9		 	 3.6%

Total net revenues  $ 306.1		 $	257.4		 $	242.2		 	18.9%		 	 6.3%		 $ 68.2		 $	 60.2		 	13.3%

(1)  Fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 vs. fiscal year ended May 31, 2010
(2)  Fiscal year ended May 31, 2010 vs. fiscal year ended May 31, 2009
(3)  Three month period ended May 31, 2011 vs. the three month period ended May 31, 2010.

Cost of Goods Sold
Our cost of goods sold is primarily comprised of the cost of finished goods, materials, and components purchased from our suppliers, 
manufacturing labour and overhead costs in our St. Jerome, Quebec facility, inventory provisions and write-offs, warranty costs, and 
supply chain related costs such as transportation and warehousing. Our warranty costs result from a general warranty policy providing 
coverage against manufacturing defects. Warranties range from thirty days to one year from the date sold at retail, depending on the 
type of equipment or apparel. Amortization associated with technology patents is also included in cost of goods sold.
 We source the majority of our products in China and Thailand. As a result, our cost of goods sold is impacted by increases in labor 
and material costs in those countries, as well as the fluctuation of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar. In particular, we purchase 
a majority of our imported merchandise from suppliers in China and Thailand using U.S. dollars. Therefore, our cost of goods sold is 
impacted by the fluctuations of the Chinese renminbi, and Thai bhat against the U.S. dollar and the fluctuation of the U.S. dollar against 
other Asian currencies such as the Taiwan dollar. While we enter into forward contracts to hedge part of our exposure to fluctuations in 
the value of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar, we do not currently hedge our exposure to the fluctuations in the value of the 
Chinese renminbi and the Thai bhat and other Asian currencies to the U.S. dollar. Instead, we enter into supplier agreements ranging 
from six to twelve months with respect to the U.S. dollar cost of our Asian-sourced finished goods.
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Sales, General and Administrative Expenses
Our sales, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs relating to our sales and marketing activities, including 
salaries, commissions and related personnel costs, customer order management and support activities, advertising, trade shows 
and other promotional activities. Our marketing expenses include promotional costs for launching new products, advertising, and 
athlete endorsement costs. Our administrative expenses consist of costs relating to information systems, legal and finance functions, 
professional fees, insurance and other corporate expenses. We also include stock-based compensation expenses in sales, general 
and administrative expenses. We expect our sales, general and administrative expenses to increase as we continue to hire additional 
personnel and expand internationally, and in connection with having become a public company. We currently estimate that we will 
incur approximately $1.0 million to $1.5 million in incremental administrative expenses (on an annual basis) as a public company.

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and related consulting expenses for technical personnel, contracts 
with leading research facilities, as well as materials and consumables used in product development. We incur most of our research 
and development expenses in Canada and are eligible to receive Scientific Research and Experimental Development investment 
tax credits for certain eligible expenditures. Investment tax credits are netted against our research and development expense. We 
currently expect our research and development expenses to grow as we focus on enhancing and expanding our product lines.

Interest Expense
Interest expense is derived from the financing activities of the Company. To fund the Business Purchase, the Company issued $42.0 
million of term bank debt (the “Old Facility”) and $52.0 million of subordinated notes (the “Old Notes”) payable. In 2008 The Company 
also drew on its line of credit to fund the working capital requirements of its material operating subsidiaries. To fund the Mission-ITECH 
Acquisition, the Company issued $10.0 million of term bank debt and drew on its line of credit to fund the working capital requirements 
of Mission-ITECH. The Company internally funded the Jock Plus Hockey Intellectual Property Acquisition and the Maverik Lacrosse 
Acquisition. On March 10, 2011, we retired the Old Facility and Old Notes and funded the expenses of the IPO through an issuance 
of $100.0 million under a new Term Loan and an increase in our Revolving Loan from $90.0 million to $100.0 million.

Provision for Income Tax
We are subject to federal, state and provincial income taxes globally. The Company is subject to cash taxes in the United States 
and Europe. In Canada, the Company utilizes its tax loss carryforwards to offset taxable income.

Gain and Loss on Derivative Instruments
The Company is exposed to global market risks, including the effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest 
rates, and uses derivatives to manage financial exposures that occur in the normal course of business. The Company’s hedging 
strategy employs foreign exchange swaps, interest rate contracts, and foreign currency forwards as economic hedges, which 
are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value. The Company has not elected hedge accounting and therefore the 
changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognized in current period earnings. For example the Company experienced 
losses in the Fiscal 2011 on forward contract derivative instruments due to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar versus the 
U.S. dollar from the period June 1, 2010 to May 31, 2011. 

Gain and Loss on Foreign Exchange
The Company’s functional and reporting currency is the U.S. dollar. Adjustments resulting from translating foreign functional 
currency financial statements into U.S. dollars are included in the foreign currency translation adjustment, a component of 
accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income in shareholders’ equity.
 Transaction gains and losses generated by the effect of foreign exchange on recorded assets and liabilities denominated in a 
currency different from the functional currency of the applicable entity are recorded in exchange losses (gains), net in the period 
in which they occur.
 All balance sheet transactions are converted at the month’s end rates, and all income statement transactions are recognized 
at the monthly average rates.
 The majority of our transactions are processed in euro, Swedish krona, Canadian dollars and U.S. dollars.

Seasonality
Our businesses demonstrate substantial seasonality. We plan our ice hockey business and launch new products over two seasons 
each fiscal year — the April to September period which we classify as the “Back-To-Hockey” season and the October to March 
period which we classify as the “Holiday” season. Generally, our highest sales volumes occur during the peak of the “Back-to-



20   BAUER PERFORMANCE SPORTS  2011 ANNUAL REPORT

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Hockey” season in the first quarter of our fiscal year, from June to August. The majority of our sales volumes for our “Holiday” 
season occur during the second quarter of our fiscal year.
	 •	 We	typically	launch	our	core	hockey	products	(excluding	sticks)	in	the	“Back-to-Hockey”	season,	in	April	through	September.

•	 Composite	ice	hockey	stick	products	(among	other	products)	are	launched	during	the	“Holiday”	season,	in	October	through	
March.

	 •	 Roller	Hockey	products	are	launched	at	retail	during	the	“Holiday”	season,	in	October	through	March.
	 •	 The	launch	of	Maverik	Lacrosse	products	overlap	substantially	with	the	“Holiday”	season,	from	November	through	April.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth a consolidated statement of financial data, for the periods indicated in millions of U.S. dollars, except 
for percentages and per share amounts.

  Fiscal Year Ended  Variance Three Months Ended, Variance
  May 31,  2011 May 31, 2011
(dollars in millions; per share in dollars) 2011  2010  2009(1)   vs. 2010 2011  2010 vs. 2010

Consolidated statement of operations:
Net revenues  $  306.1  $  257.4  $  242.2  $  48.7  $  68.2		 $		 60.2		 $		 8.0
 Cost of goods sold   187.0		 	 168.3		 	 187.2		 	 (18.7)		 	 37.4   34.9   (2.5)
Gross profit  $  119.1  $  89.1  $  55.0  $  30.0  $  30.8  $  25.3  $  5.5
Operating expenses:
 Sales, general & administrative   80.2		 	 61.7		 	 66.6		 	 (18.5)		 	 25.2   17.5   (7.7)
 Research & development   11.5		 	 9.7		 	 6.8		 	 (1.8)		 	 2.3   2.8   0.5
Operating income (loss)  $  27.4  $  17.7  $  (18.4)  $  9.7  $  3.3  $  5.0  $  (1.7)
Net interest expense   11.9   11.7   12.4   (0.2)   2.1   2.9   0.8
Loss on early extinguishment of debt   2.8   –   –   (2.8)   2.8   –   (2.8)
Realized losses on derivative instruments   2.8		 	 5.4		 	 –		 	 2.6		 	 2.4   2.4   –
Unrealized losses (gains)  
 on derivative instruments   12.4   (4.8)   0.1   (17.2)   (0.8)   (4.0)   (3.2)
Foreign exchange and other   (3.3)   (0.8)   (0.5)   2.5   (0.1)   0.9   1.0
Income tax expense (benefit)   0.4   3.9   (11.5)   3.5   (0.9)		 	 1.7		 	 2.6
Net income (loss)  $  0.4  $  2.4  $  (18.9)  $  (2.0)   (2.2)  $  1.2  $  (3.4)

Adjusted Gross Profit  $  122.9		 $		 97.9		 $	 	85.6		 $		 25.0		 $  31.6  $  28.9  $  2.7
Adjusted EBITDA  $  43.5  $  30.7  $  27.1  $  12.8  $  10.1  $  8.3  $  1.8
Basic earnings (loss) per share  $  0.01  $  0.08  $  (0.18)  $  (0.07)  $  (0.07)  $  0.03  $  (0.11)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share  $  0.01  $  0.08  $  (0.18)  $ (0.07)  $ (0.07)  $  0.03  $ (0.10)
Total assets  $  311.3  $  239.2  $  239.3  $  72.1  $  311.3  $  239.2  $  72.1
Total long-term liabilities  $  134.8  $  90.4  $  90.4  $  (44.4)  $  134.8  $  90.4  $  (44.4)

As a percentage of revenues:
Net revenues   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   0.0%   100.0%   100.0%   0.0%
 Cost of goods sold   61.1%		 	65.4%		 	77.3%		 	 4.3%		 	 54.8%   58.0%   3.2%
Gross profit   38.9%		 	34.6%		 	22.7%		 	 4.3%		 	 45.2%   42.0%   3.2%
Operating expenses:
 Sales, general & administrative   26.2%   24.0%   27.5%   -2.2%   37.0%   29.1%   -7.9%
 Research & development   3.8%   3.8%   2.8%   0.0%   3.4%   4.7%   1.3%
Operating income (loss)   9.0%		 	 6.9%		 	 -7.6%		 	 2.1%		 	 4.8%   8.3%   -3.5%
Net interest expense   3.9%		 	 4.5%		 	 5.1%		 	 -0.6%	 	 	3.1%   4.8%   -1.7%
Loss on early extinguishment of debt  0.9%   0.0%   0.0%   0.9%   4.1%   0.0%   4.1%
Realized losses on derivative instruments   0.9%   2.1%   0.0%   -1.2%   3.5%   4.0%   -0.5%
Unrealized losses (gains)  
 on derivative instruments   4.1%		 	 -1.9%		 	 0.0%		 	 6.0%		 	 -1.2%		 	 -6.6%		 	 5.4%
Foreign exchange and other   -1.1%   -0.3%   -0.2%   -0.8%   -0.1%		 	 1.5%		 	 -1.6%
Income tax expense (benefit)   0.1%   1.5%   -4.7%   -1.4%   -1.3%   2.8%   -4.1%
Net income (loss)   0.1%   0.9%   -7.8%   -0.8%   -3.2%   2.0%   -5.2%

Adjusted Gross Profit   40.2%   38.0%   35.4%   2.2%   46.3%   48.1%   -1.8%
Adjusted EBITDA   14.2%   11.9%   11.2%   2.3%   14.8%   13.8%   1.0%

(1) Please refer to the Prospectus for the comparison of Fiscal 2010 vs. 2009.
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FISCAL 2011 COMPARED TO FISCAL 2010

Net Revenues
Net	revenues	in	the	twelve	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	increased	by	$48.7	million,	or	18.9%,	to	$306.1	million	due	to	strong	
performance in ice hockey equipment sales, roller hockey sales and apparel. Also included in this growth is the sale of lacrosse 
equipment and related apparel that was not offered by the Company in Fiscal 2010.  
	 Ice	hockey	equipment	net	revenues	increased	by	16.9%	supported	by	strong	performance	in	all	regions	with	strong	category	
sales in skates, helmets/facial, protective equipment and composite sticks. Our Roller Hockey net revenues increased by 15.4%.  
Apparel net revenues increased by 22.4% due to the introduction of our new protective apparel line and increased sales of team 
apparel. The impact of foreign exchange in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased our reported net revenues 
by approximately $9.9 million. Based on the seasonality of our selling cycle, we generate our highest net revenues in the first six 
months of our fiscal year followed by the fourth quarter of the fiscal year.

Gross Profit
Gross	profit	in	the	twelve	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	increased	by	$30.0	million,	or	33.6%,	to	$119.1	million.	Our	gross	profit	
as	a	percentage	of	net	revenues	increased	to	38.9%	for	the	twelve	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	from	34.6%	in	the	twelve	
month period ended May 31, 2010. Gross profit was favourably impacted by higher net revenues, offset by increased cost of goods 
sold, distribution center expenses, freight costs and supply chain costs, all related to the higher net revenues.
 As a percentage of net revenues, we have been able to increase our gross profit margins period over period driven by lower 
direct material costs and efficiencies in manufacturing and supply chain. The impact of foreign exchange in the twelve month 
period ended May 31, 2011 increased gross profit by $5.3 million, or 1.7% of net revenues.

Adjusted Gross Profit
Adjusted Gross Profit in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $25.0 million, or 25.5%, to $122.9 million. Our 
Adjusted Gross Profit as a percentage of net revenues for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased to 40.2% from 
38.0% in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010. The increase is driven by higher net revenues offset by increased cost 
of goods sold, distribution expenses, freight and warranty expenses, which were all driven by higher net revenues. Please see 
the Adjusted Gross Profit table for the reconciliation of Gross Profit to Adjusted Gross Profit in the “Financial Measures and Key 
Performance Indicators” section.

Sales, General and Administrative
Sales, general and administrative expenses in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $18.5 million, or 30.0%, 
to $80.2 million. This increase was primarily due to (i) an overall increase in salaries and wages driven by increased incentive plan 
compensation, (ii) an increase in commissions due to the increased net revenues, (iii) costs related to the IPO, and (iv) the fee for 
the termination of the Management Services Agreement. Excluding the $4.0 million termination fee and the $3.0 million in costs 
related to the IPO, sales, general and administrative expenses in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 would have increased 
by	$11.5	million,	or	18.6%.	
	 As	a	percentage	of	net	revenues,	our	sales,	general	and	administrative	expenses	increased	to	26.2%	for	the	twelve	month	
period ended May 31, 2011 from 24.0% of net revenues for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010. Without the termination 
fee and the IPO costs, sales, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenues decreased to 23.9% for the 
twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 from 24.0% of net revenues for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010. The impact 
of foreign exchange for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased our reported sales, general and administrative 
expenses by $1.1 million, or 0.3% of net revenues.

Research and Development Expenses
Our research and development expenses in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $1.8 million, or 18.5%, to 
$11.5 million due to increased investments in our product development efforts. As a percentage of net revenues, our research and 
development expenses were flat year over year at 3.8% for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 and for the twelve month 
period ended May 31, 2010. The impact of foreign exchange for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased research 
and development expenses by $0.4 million, or 0.1% of net revenues.
 In the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011, $1.8 million of research and development tax credits were recognized as an offset 
to research and development expenses. In the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010, these tax credits were recognized as an 
offset	to	income	tax	expense.	Without	the	tax	credit,	research	and	development	expenses	increased	by	$3.6	million,	or	37.1%.
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Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $12.8 million, or 41.7%, to $43.5 million. As a 
percentage of net revenues, Adjusted EBITDA increased to 14.2% for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 from 11.9% for 
the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010 driven by improved Adjusted Gross Profit partially offset by increased sales, general 
and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenues.  Please see the Adjusted EBITDA table for the reconciliation of net 
income to Adjusted EBITDA in the “Financial Measures and Key Performance Indicators” section.

Interest Income/Expense
Interest expense in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $0.5 million, or 3.7%, to $12.5 million due primarily 
to increased drawings on the line of credit to finance the Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition and increased investments in working 
capital,	primarily	higher	inventory	levels.	Interest	income	increased	$0.2	million,	or	60.8%,	to	$0.6	million	for	the	twelve	month	
period ended May 31, 2011, due to an increase in customer-charged interest collections.  As a percentage of net revenues interest 
income/expense decreased to 3.9% in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 from 4.5% in the twelve month period ended 
May 31, 2011.

Net Loss on Derivative Instruments
Net	loss	on	derivative	instruments	in	the	twelve	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	increased	by	$14.6	million	to	$15.2	million	due	
to the significant strengthening of the Canadian dollar during the current period versus the exchange rates on the Company’s 
forward contracts. As of May 31, 2011, the Company had forward contracts, maturing at various dates through May 2013, to buy 
the equivalent of $220.5 million in foreign currencies at contracted rates. As of the same period in the prior year, the Company held 
contracts to sell the equivalent of $1.3 million in foreign currencies at contracted rates and to buy the equivalent of $91.3 million in 
foreign currencies at contracted rates through May 2011. 

Net Gain on Foreign Exchange
Gain on foreign exchange in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $2.5 million to $3.3 million. These are 
transaction gains and losses generated by the effect of foreign exchange on recorded assets and liabilities denominated in a 
currency different from the functional currency of the applicable entity are recorded in exchange gains, net in the period in which 
they occur.  

Income Taxes
Income tax expense in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 decreased by $3.5 million to $0.4 million. The decreased 
expense in the current period was due to the decreased pretax income compared to the prior period. Current tax expense for the 
period was $0.5 million and future income tax benefit was $0.1 million. The Company’s effective tax rate was 48.5% compared 
to	61.9%	for	the	same	period	in	the	prior	year.	Both	years’	effective	tax	rates	are	affected	by	changes	in	effective	rates	and	return	
to provision adjustments. Combined with a small ordinary income, these and other permanent differences led to a higher than 
normal effective tax rate in both years.

Net Income
Net income in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 decreased $2.0 million to $0.4 million. Without the unrealized loss 
(gain)	on	foreign	exchange	in	both	fiscal	years	and	the	cost	related	to	the	IPO,	net	income	was	$16.7	million	in	the	twelve	month	
period ended May 31, 2011 as compared to net loss of $0.9 million in the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010. The impact of 
foreign exchange for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 increased net income by $2.1 million, or 0.7% of net revenues.
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THREE MONTHS ENDED MAY 31, 2011 TO THREE MONTHS ENDED MAY 31, 2010

Net Revenues
Net	revenues	in	the	three	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	increased	by	$8.0	million,	or	13.3%,	to	$68.2	million	due	to	strong	
performance in ice hockey equipment driven in part by the launch of our elite skate the Vapor APX on April 29, 2011. Also included 
in this growth is the sale of lacrosse equipment and related apparel which was not offered by the Company in Fiscal 2010. 
 Ice hockey equipment revenues increased 17.7% supported by the strong performance in all regions with strong category sales 
in skates, protective equipment, composite sticks, and apparel. The impact of foreign exchange in the three month period ended 
May 31, 2011 increased our reported net revenues by $2.3 million.

Gross Profit
Gross profit in the three month period ended May 31, 2010 increased by $5.5 million, or 21.7%, to $30.8 million. Our gross profit as 
a percentage of net revenues increased to 45.2% for the three month period ended May 31, 2011 from 42.0% in the three month 
period ended May 31, 2010. Gross profit was favourably impacted by higher net revenues, offset by increased cost of goods sold, 
distribution center expenses, freight costs and supply chain costs, all related to the higher net revenues.
 As a percentage of net revenues, we have been able to increase our gross profit margins period over period driven by lower 
direct material costs, and efficiencies in manufacturing and supply chain. The impact of foreign exchange in the three month period 
ended May 31, 2011 increased gross profit by $1.5 million, or 2.2% of net revenues.

Adjusted Gross Profit
Adjusted	Gross	Profit	in	the	three	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	increased	by	$2.7	million,	or	9.3%,	to	$31.6	million.	Our	
Adjusted	Gross	Profit	as	a	percentage	of	net	revenues	for	the	three	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	decreased	to	46.3%	from	
48.1% in the three month period ended May 31, 2010. The decrease is driven by the higher net revenues offset by lower inventory 
reserves, and higher cost of goods sold, distribution expenses, freight and warranty expenses, which were all driven by higher net 
revenues.  Please see the Adjusted Gross Profit table for the reconciliation of Gross Profit to Adjusted Gross Profit in the “Financial 
Measures and Key Performance Indicators” section.

Sales, General and Administrative
Sales, general and administrative expenses in the three month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $7.7 million, or 44.0% 
to $25.2 million. This increase was driven by (i) an overall increase in salaries and wages driven by increased incentive plan 
compensation, (ii) an increase in commissions due to the increased net revenues, (iii) costs related to the IPO, and (iv) the fee for 
the termination of the Management Services Agreement. Excluding the $4.0 million termination fee and the $1.3 million in costs 
related to the IPO, sales, general and administrative expenses in the three month period ended May 31, 2011 would have increased 
by $2.4 million, or 13.7%.
 As a percentage of net revenues, our sales, general and administrative expenses increased to 37.0% for the three month period 
ended May 31, 2011 from 29.1% of net revenues for the three month period ended May 31, 2010. Without the termination fee and 
the IPO costs, sales, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of net revenues slightly increased to 29.2% for the 
three month period ended May 31, 2011 from 29.1% of net revenues for the three month period ended May 31, 2010.  The impact 
of foreign exchange for the three month period ended May 31, 2011 increased our reported sales, general and administrative 
expenses by $0.5 million, or 0.7% of net revenues.  

Research and Development Expenses
Our research and development expenses in the three month period ended May 31, 2011 decreased by $0.5 million, or 17.8%, to 
$2.3 million, due to the timing of our investment in our product development efforts. As a percentage of net revenues, our research 
and development expenses decreased to 3.4% in the three month period ended May 31, 2010 from 4.7% in the three month period 
ended May 31, 2010. The impact of foreign exchange for the three month period ended May 31, 2011 increased research and 
development expenses by $0.1 million, or 0.1% of net revenues.
 In the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011, $1.8 million of research and development tax credits were recognized as an 
offset to research and development expenses. In the three month period ended May 31, 2010, these tax credits were recognized as 
an	offset	to	income	tax	expense.	Without	the	tax	credit,	research	and	development	expenses	increased	by	$1.3	million,	or	46.4%.
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Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA in the three month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $1.8 million, or 21.7%, to $10.1 million. As a percentage 
of net revenues, Adjusted EBITDA increased to 14.8% for the three month period May 31, 2010 from 13.8% for the three month 
period ended May 31, 2010. Please see the Adjusted EBITDA table for the reconciliation of net income to Adjusted EBITDA in the 
“Financial Measures and Key Performance Indicators” section.

Interest Income/Expense
Interest expense in the three month period ended May 31, 2011 decreased by $0.7 million to $2.2 million due primarily to lower 
interest rates in the New Facility. Interest income is a flat $0.1 million for the three month period ended May 31, 2011 and for the 
three month period ended May 31, 2010, which reflects constant customer-charged interest collections.

Net Loss on Derivative Instruments
Net	loss	on	derivative	instruments	in	the	three	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	increased	by	$3.2	million	to	a	loss	of	$1.6	million.	
The increased expense was due primarily to the strengthening of the Canadian dollar versus the exchange rates on the Company’s 
forward contracts. As of May 31, 2011, the Company had forward contracts, maturing at various dates through May 2013, to buy 
the equivalent of $220.5 million in foreign currencies at contracted rates. As of the same period in the prior year, the Company held 
contracts to sell the equivalent of $1.3 million in foreign currencies at contracted rates and to buy the equivalent of $91.3 million in 
foreign currencies at contracted rates through May 2011.

Net Gain on Foreign Exchange
Gain on foreign exchange in the three month period ended May 31, 2011 increased by $1.0 million to a gain of $0.1 million. These 
are the transaction gains and losses generated by the effect of foreign exchange on recorded assets and liabilities denominated 
in a currency different from the functional currency of the applicable entity are recorded in exchange gains, net in the period in 
which they occur.  

Income Taxes
Income	tax	expense	in	the	three	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	decreased	by	$2.6	million	to	a	tax	benefit	of	$0.9	million.	Current	
tax expense for the period was $1.2 million and future income tax benefits were $2.1 million. The Company’s effective tax rate was 
32.2%	compared	to	60.7%	for	the	same	period	in	the	prior	year.	Since	the	Company	expects	that	even	small	changes	in	ordinary	
income will result in large changes in its annual effective tax rate, the Company is calculating the current period tax rate based 
on actual results. The prior period rate included changes in enacted tax rates in Canada and other permanent differences. These 
differences, combined with a small ordinary income amount led to a higher than normal effective tax rate.

Net Loss
Net loss in the three month period ended May 31, 2011 decreased by $3.4 million, to a loss of $2.2 million driven by the increase 
in net revenues offset by the expenses discussed above. Without the unrealized loss period over period on foreign exchange and 
the costs related to the IPO in the three month period ended May 31, 2011, net income was $3.4 million as compared to net loss of 
$1.5 million in the three month period ended May 31, 2010. The impact of foreign exchange for the three month period increased 
net income by $0.7 million, or 1.0% of net revenues.
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SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY RESULTS

The following table summarizes quarterly financial results and major operating statistics for the Company for the last 8 quarters. 
All financial data, for the periods indicated in millions of U.S. dollars, except for percentages and per share amounts.

Three months ended Aug. 31, Nov. 30, Feb. 28, May 31,  Aug. 31, Nov. 30, Feb. 28, May 31,
(dollars in millions; per share in dollars ) 2009 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011

Consolidated statement of operations:
Net	revenues		 $		103.7	 $		 60.5		 $		 33.0		 $		 60.2		 $		110.3		 $		 79.2		 $		 48.4		 $		 68.2
	 Cost	of	goods	sold		 	 65.5		 	 42.9		 	 25.0		 	 34.9		 	 65.5		 	 51.4		 	 32.7		 	 37.4
Gross	profit		 $		 38.2	 $		 17.6		 $		 8.0		 $		 25.3		 $		 44.8		 $		 27.8		 $		 15.7		 $		 30.8
Operating expenses:
	 Sales,	general	&	administrative		 	 14.7		 	 16.3		 	 13.2		 	 17.5		 	 17.7		 	 19.7		 	 17.6		 	 25.2
 Research & development   2.3   2.2   2.4   2.8   2.8   3.1   3.3   2.3
Operating	income	(loss)		 $		 21.2		 $		 (0.9)		 $		 (7.6)		 $		 5.0		 $	 	24.3		 $		 5.0		 $		 (5.2)	 	$		 3.3
Net interest expense   3.0   3.1   2.7   2.9   3.4   3.5   2.9   2.1
Loss on early extinguishment of debt   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   2.8
Realized losses (gains)  
	 on	derivative	instruments	 	 0.5		 	 1.4		 	 1.1	 	 	2.4		 	 (0.2)		 	 –		 	 0.6		 	 2.4
Unrealized losses (gains) 
	 on	derivative	instruments	 	 (1.0)		 	 0.8		 	 (0.6)		 	 (4.0)		 	 (2.7)		 	 6.6		 	 9.3		 	 (0.8)
Foreign exchange and other   (1.1)   (1.4)   0.8   0.9   –   (2.0)   (1.2)   (0.1)
Income	tax	expense	(benefit)		 	 8.1		 	 (1.6)		 	 (4.3)		 	 1.7		 	 8.4		 	 (1.2)		 	 (5.9)		 	 (0.9)
Net income (loss)  $  11.7 $ (3.2)  $  (7.3)  $ 1.2  $  15.4  $  (1.9)  $  (10.9)  $  (2.2)

Adjusted	Gross	Profit		 $		 40.2		 $		 19.0		 $		 9.8		 $		 28.9		 $		 45.8		 $		 28.8		 $		 16.7		 $		 31.6
Adjusted EBITDA  $  25.1  $  1.7  $  (4.4)  $  8.3  $  28.3  $  7.9  $  (2.8)  $  10.1
Basic earnings (loss) per share(1)		 $		 0.39		 $		(0.11)		 $		(0.24)		 $		 0.03		 $	 	0.51		 $		(0.06)		 $		(0.36)		 $		(0.07)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share(1)		 $		 0.39		 $		(0.11)		 $		(0.24)		 $		 0.03		 $		 0.49		 $		(0.06)		 $		(0.35)		 $		(0.07)
Total	assets		 $		280.1		 $		251.2		 $		220.4		 $		239.2		 $		308.7		 $		280.0		 $		266.0		 $		311.3
Total	long-term	liabilities		 $		 90.8		 $		 91.8		 $		 91.2		 $		 90.4		 $		 96.8		 $		 98.6		 $		112.9		 $		134.8

As a percentage of net revenues:
Net revenues   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%
Cost	of	goods	sold		 	 63.2%		 	 70.9%		 	 75.8%		 	 58.0%		 	 59.4%		 	 64.9%		 	 67.6%		 	 54.8%
Gross	profit		 	 36.8%		 	 29.1%		 	 24.2%		 	 42.0%		 	 40.6%		 	 35.1%		 	 32.4%		 	 45.2%
Operating expenses:
	 Sales,	general	&	administrative		 	 14.2%		 	 26.9%		 	 40.0%		 	 29.1%		 	 16.0%		 	 24.9%		 	 36.4%		 	 37.0%
	 Research	&	development		 	 2.2%		 	 3.6%		 	 7.3%		 	 4.7%		 	 2.5%		 	 3.9%		 	 6.8%		 	 3.4%
Operating	income	(loss)		 	 20.4%		 	 -1.5%		 	-23.0%		 	 8.3%		 	 22.0%		 	 6.3%		 	-10.7%		 	 4.8%
Net	interest	expense		 	 2.9%		 	 5.1%		 	 8.2%		 	 4.8%		 	 3.1%		 	 4.4%		 	 6.0%		 	 3.1%
Loss on early extinguishment of debt   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   4.1%
Realized losses (gains) 
 on derivative instruments   0.5%   2.3%   3.3%   4.0%   -0.2%   0.0%   1.2%   3.5%
Unrealized losses (gains) 
	 on	derivative	instruments		 	 -1.0%		 	 1.3%		 	 -1.8%		 	 -6.6%		 	 -2.4%		 	 8.3%		 	 19.2%		 	 -1.2%
Foreign exchange and other   -1.1%   -2.3%   2.4%   1.5%   0.0%   -2.5%   -2.5%   -0.1%
Income	tax	expense	(benefit)		 	 7.8%		 	 -2.6%		 	-13.0%		 	 2.8%		 	 7.6%		 	 -1.5%		 	-12.2%		 	 -1.3%
Net income (loss)  11.3%   -5.3%   -22.1%   2.0%   14.0%   -2.4%   -22.5%   -3.2%

Adjusted	Gross	Profit		 	 38.7%		 	 31.4%		 	 29.7%		 	 48.1%		 	 41.5%		 	 36.4%		 	 34.5%		 	 46.3%
Adjusted EBITDA   24.2%   2.8%   -13.3%   13.8%   25.7%   9.9%   -5.8%   14.8%

(1) Canadian GAAP earnings (loss) per common share for Q1 through Q3 Fiscal 2011 reflect the reorganization and the IPO. Before and after the 
reorganization, issued and outstanding ordinary shares of KSGI were 108,069,808 and issued and outstanding Common Shares for Bauer 
Performance Sports Ltd. were 30,046,115. Please refer to the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements particularly Notes 1 – Basis of 
Presentation and Note 17 – Share Capital for details.
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OUTLOOK

Our net revenues are made up of (i) booking orders, which are typically received several months in advance of the actual delivery 
date, (ii) repeat orders, which are for at-once delivery, and (iii) other orders. The seasonality of our business and the manner in 
which we solicit orders could create quarterly variations in the percentage of our net revenues that are comprised of booking 
orders. Historically, booking orders constitute most of our orders in our first and fourth fiscal quarters, but constitute approximately 
one-half of our orders in our second fiscal quarter and approximately one-third of our orders in our third fiscal quarter. Although 
our booking orders give us some visibility into our future financial performance, there may not be a direct relationship between 
our booking orders and our future financial performance given several factors, among which are: (i) the timing of order placement 
compared to historical patterns, (ii) our ability to service demand for our product, (iii) the willingness of our customers to commit 
to purchasing our product, and (iv) the actual sell through of our products at retail driving changes in repeat orders. As a result, 
there can be no assurances that our booking orders will translate into realized sales. Investors should not place undue reliance on 
the year over year change in our booking orders as an indication of our total net revenues in any fiscal period.
 We receive substantially all booking orders for our “Back-to-Hockey” season (for sales from April through September) by the 
end of April and we receive substantially all booking orders for our “Holiday” season (for sales from October through March) by 
the end of October. As a result of our product performance and marketing efforts we have seen a significant improvement in our 
order file for the current “Back-to-Hockey” season (April — September 2011). As of April 2011 our booking orders for our upcoming 
“Back-to-Hockey” season increased by $43.2 million over the prior season, or approximately 32.0%, to $178.4 million. We currently 
intend to publicly disclose our booking orders for our upcoming “Holiday” season around the time we release our financial results 
for our first fiscal quarter. 
 While this increase in booking orders is very encouraging and is a strong endorsement of the Company’s new products, it is not 
possible at this time to extrapolate this increase into an equivalent increase in total net revenues for the “Back-to-Hockey” season. 
We currently have limited visibility to our repeat orders, the other major component of our total net revenues, but we believe that 
our customers are placing more of their total orders in the form of booking orders. As such, we currently do not expect a year over 
year increase in repeat orders of nearly the same magnitude as our increase in booking orders in the upcoming “Back-to-Hockey” 
season. 
 While we have improved our year over year gross margin as a percentage of net revenues in both the three and twelve month 
periods, we currently expect continued increases in our cost of goods sold due to, among other factors, appreciation of Asian 
currencies against the US dollar as well as increased labor rates and raw material and freight costs. To help mitigate this cost 
inflation we intend to continue our cost reduction and supply chain initiatives of the past several years as well as evaluate alternative 
strategies as needed. Current initiatives include working with our manufacturing partners to develop lower cost materials and 
assemble product more efficiently. We also currently intend to continue our investment in research and development and review 
our internal and external distribution structure to lower costs and improve services.
 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Cash Flows
Currently, our primary source of operating cash flow is generated from sales of ice hockey equipment and related apparel. We 
believe that ongoing operations and associated cash flow, in addition to our cash resources and Revolving Loan, provide sufficient 
liquidity to support our business operations for at least the next twelve months. Furthermore, as of May 31, 2011, the Company held 
cash and cash equivalents of $2.0 million and had an undrawn Revolving Loan of $38.1 million which provides further flexibility 
to meet any unanticipated cash requirements due to changes in working capital commitments or liquidity risks associated with 
financial instruments. Such changes may arise from, among other things, the seasonality of our business (see “Factors Affecting our 
Performance — Seasonality” and “Outlook” above), the failure of one or more customers to pay their obligations (see “Quantitative 
and Qualitative Disclosures About Market and Other Financial Risks – Credit Risk” further below) or from losses incurred on 
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derivative instruments, such as foreign exchange swaps, interest rate contracts and foreign currency forwards (see “Factors 
Affecting our Performance – Gain and Loss on Derivative Instruments”). The following table sets forth a consolidated statement 
of financial data, for the periods indicated in millions of U.S. dollars.

  Twelve Months Ended Three Months Ended
  May 31, May 31,

(dollars in millions)  2011  2010  2009  2011  2010

Net cash flows from operating activities   (11.3)		 	 1.6		 	 24.8		  (32.3)   (27.4)
Net cash flows from investing activities   (17.4) 	 	 (4.9)		 	 (26.3)		 	 (3.9)   (0.5)
Net cash flows from financing activities   26.5   (1.8)   (0.5)   30.8 	 	 16.9
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash   –   (0.1)   0.4   (0.2)		 	 (0.6)
(Decrease)/increase in cash   (2.2)		 	 (5.2)		 	 (1.6)		 	 (5.6)		 	 (11.6)
Beginning cash  $ 4.2  $ 9.4  $ 11.0  $ 7.6  $ 15.8
Ending cash  $ 2.0  $ 4.2  $ 9.4  $ 2.0  $ 4.2

Net Cash Provided by (Used In) Operating Activities
Net cash flows used in operating activities for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 were $11.3 million, a decrease of $12.9 
million compared to the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010 due mainly to an increase in our working capital, primarily higher 
inventory to support our business growth.
 Net cash flows used in operating activities for the three month period ended May 31, 2011 were $32.3 million, a decrease of $4.9 
million compared to the three month period ended May 31, 2010 due mainly to an increase in our working capital, primarily higher 
inventory to support our business growth.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2011 was $17.4 million, an increase of $12.5 million 
compared to $4.9 million for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010, due to the Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition for $11.5 million 
in June 2010.
 Net cash used in investing activities for the three month period ended May 31, 2011 was $3.9 million, an increase of $3.4 million 
compared to $0.5 million for the three month period ended May 31, 2010, due to increased investment in property, plant and 
equipment.

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
Net	cash	inflows	used	in	financing	activities	for	the	twelve	month	period	ended	May	31,	2011	were	$26.5	million,	an	increase	of	$28.3	
million compared to $1.8 million in cash outflows for the twelve month period ended May 31, 2010. In the twelve month period ended 
May 31, 2011, the Company paid $5.0 million in costs related to the IPO. The Company paid $4.9 million in debt issuance costs for 
the New Facility and used the proceeds to, among other things; repay the Old Facility and the Old Notes. In the twelve month period 
ending May 31, 2010, the Company made a long-term debt repayment of $14.5 million Canadian dollars, which was offset by draws 
on the Company’s line of credit.
 Net cash inflows used in financing activities for the three month period ended May 31, 2011 were $30.8 million, an increase of 
$13.9	million	compared	to	$16.9	million	for	the	three	month	period	ended	May	31,	2010.		In	the	three	month	period	ended	May	31,	
2011, the Company paid $1.7 million in costs related to the IPO. The Company paid $4.9 million in debt issuance costs for the New 
Facility and used the proceeds to, among other things, repay the Old Facility and the Old Notes.  

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

In the twelve and three month periods ended May 31, 2011, we incurred capital expenditures of $5.4 million and $3.1 million, 
respectively, due primarily to the buildout of the Company’s new global headquarters in Exeter, New Hampshire, investments in our 
information systems to assist in streamlining our growing organization and incremental equipment investments relating to research 
and development. 
 Our ordinary course operations require minimal capital expenditures given that we manufacture most of our products through 
our manufacturing partners. Our capital expenditure requirements were on average 1.0% of net revenues for the three fiscal years 
ending May 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009. Going forward, to support our growth and key business initiatives, we currently anticipate 
moderately higher levels of capital expenditures and investment.
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CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table summarizes our material contractual obligations as of May 31, 2011 in millions of U.S. dollars:

  Twelve Months Ended May 31,

Commitments (dollars in millions)  Total  2012  2013  2014  2015  2016  Thereafter

Lease financing
Operating	lease	obligations		 $		 18.4		 $		 4.1		 $		 3.3		 $		 3.3		 $		 2.6		 $		 1.3		 $		 3.8
Capital lease payments   0.2   0.1   0.1   0.0   –  –   –

Endorsement contracts   4.9   2.2   1.2   0.5   0.5   0.5   0.0

Long-term borrowings
Revolving	credit	line		 	 56.4		 	 21.4		 	 –	 	 –	 	 	–		 	 35.0		 	 –
Term	loan	due	2016		 	 97.8		 	 7.0		 	 7.5		 	 7.5		 	 7.5		 	 68.3		 	 –

Inventory purchases   52.0   52.0   –  –   –  –  –

Non-inventory purchases   0.8   0.8   –  –  –  –  –

Total commitments  $  230.5  $  87.6  $  12.2  $  11.3  $  10.5  $  105.1  $  3.8

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

We enter into agreements with our manufacturing partners on tooling requirements for our manufactured products. The following 
table summarizes our vendor tooling commitments as of May 31, 2011 and Fiscal 2011 in millions of U.S. dollars.

    Owed Open purchase
  Tooling  amounts orders Outstanding
  acquisition  as of amortization liability
Vendor commitments  value Cost paid May 31, 2011  value Fiscal 2012

Active commitments
 Supplier A  $ 3.7  $ 2.0  $ 1.7  $ 0.2  $ 1.5
 Supplier B   1.5   0.2   1.3   0.2   1.1
	 Supplier	C		 	 1.0		 	 0.4		 	 0.6		 	 0.1		 	 0.5
 Supplier D   0.2   0.1   0.1   0.1   –
 Supplier E   0.2   0.1   0.1   –   0.1
 Supplier F   0.2   0.1   0.1   0.1   –

Total active commitments  $ 6.8  $ 2.9  $ 3.9  $ 0.7  $ 3.2

INDEBTEDNESS

New Credit Facility
On March 10, 2011, the material operating subsidiaries of the Company, being Bauer Hockey Corp. and Bauer Hockey, Inc., entered 
into the New Credit Facility which is comprised of a (i) $100.0 million Term Loan and (ii) $100.0 million Revolving Loan. The Term 
Loan and the Revolving Loan are denominated in both Canadian dollars and U.S. dollars, the availability of which is subject to 
meeting certain borrowing base requirements. The Revolving Loan includes a $20.0 million letter of credit subfacility and a $10.0 
million swing line loan subfacility. In addition, the Borrowers may, under certain circumstances and subject to receipt of additional 
commitments from existing lenders and/or new lenders, increase the size of the New Credit Facility in an aggregate amount of up 
to	$30.0	million.	The	Term	Loan	and	the	Revolving	Loan	each	mature	on	March	10,	2016.
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 The interest rates per annum applicable to the loans under the New Credit Facility, equal an applicable margin percentage, 
plus, at the Borrowers’ option depending on the currency of borrowing, (1) the U.S. base rate/Canadian Base rate or (2) LIBOR/
Bankers Acceptance rate. The applicable margin percentages will be subject to adjustment based upon the ratio of the total debt 
to EBITDA (as defined under the New Credit Facility) as follows:

Total Debt to Adjusted EBITDA  Base Rate/Canadian Base Rate LIBOR/BA Rate

Equal to or greater than 2.5x  2.25%  3.50%
Equal to or greater than 2.0x but less than 2.5x  2.00%  3.25%
Less than 2.0x  1.75%  3.00%

Additionally, on the last day of each calendar quarter, the Borrowers will pay a commitment fee in an amount equal to 0.5% per 
annum on the average unused daily balance (less any outstanding letters of credit). 
 The interest rate on the New Credit Facility for the period ended May 31, 2011 was 3.72% to 5.50%. The Company had $38.1 
million	of	available	credit	line	available	at	May	31,	2011.	At	May	31,	2011	there	are	three	letters	of	credit	in	the	amount	of	$1.6	million	
outstanding under the Revolving Loan.
 A summary of the material terms of the New Credit Facility is included in Bauer’s final prospectus and a copy of the New Credit 
Facility is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Old Facility
Until March 10, 2011, KGSI maintained the “Old Facility” with General Electric Capital Corporation, GE Canada Finance Holding 
Company and certain other financial institutions (collectively, the “Old Lenders”). The Old Facility was comprised of a $52.0 
million variable interest rate term loan and $90.0 million revolving credit line. To fund the acquisition of Maverik, the Old Facility 
was amended on June 3, 2010. Under the terms of the original agreement, the balance of the revolving credit line must be paid 
down to $9.0 million Canadian dollars for a period of 30 consecutive days between the period January 15 and March 15 each year. 
The fourth amendment to the credit agreement increases the balance to $15.0 million Canadian dollars. A consent document  
was executed on February 9, 2011 that increased the balance to $25.0 million Canadian dollars.
	 The	term	loan	had	scheduled	quarterly	repayments	and	a	maturity	of	April	16,	2013.	At	May	31,	2010,	these	payment	amounts	
are included in the short-term portion of long-term debt. The interest rate was equal to the Bankers’ Acceptance rate or Canadian 
base rate plus the applicable margin for each rate. The margin is 3.25% or 4.50% depending on the type of rate obtained. The 
interest	rate	for	the	years	ended	May	31,	2011	and	2010	ranged	from	5.23%	to	6.25%	and	4.93%	to	5.50%,	respectively.
	 The	interest	rate	on	the	revolving	credit	line	for	the	period	ended	May	31,	2011	and	2010	ranged	from	4.75%	to	6.50%	and	
4.73%	to	6.50%,	respectively.	The	Company	had	$40.4	million	of	available	credit	line	available	at	May	31,	2010	and	there	was	one	
letter of credit in the amount of $0.4 million Canadian dollars outstanding under the revolving credit line. 
 The Old Facility was amended and restated on March 10, 2011 as described above under New Credit Facility.
 At May 31, 2010, KGSI’s operating subsidiaries had issued senior subordinated promissory notes (the “Old Notes”) in the aggregate 
principal amount of $52.0 million. The Old Notes were cancelled and redeemed on March 10, 2011 as described above under New 
Credit Facility. A foreign exchange swap agreement was entered into at the time the Old Notes were issued to reduce the foreign 
exchange	risk	associated	with	the	U.S.	dollar	denominated	notes.	On	March	16,	2011,	the	foreign	exchange	swap	agreement	was	
terminated prior to its maturity. This resulted in a realized settlement loss of $0.8 million Canadian dollars which is included in realized 
losses on derivative instruments in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended May 31, 2011. 
 The Old Notes had a fixed interest rate of 14.25%. The interest rate was comprised of basic interest of 12.00% due in cash each 
quarter and 2.25% that the Company, at its discretion, could recapitalize into the notes. The Company elected to recapitalize the 
2.25% interest for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010. The amount of the recapitalization is $0.9 million and $1.2 million for 
the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 

Contingencies
In connection with the formation of KSGI, a subsidiary of KSGI agreed to pay additional consideration to Nike in future periods, 
based upon the attainment of a qualifying exit event. At May 31, 2011, the maximum potential future consideration pursuant to such 
arrangements, to be resolved over the following eight years, was $10.0 million. As a condition to the closing of KSGI, the Existing 
Holders entered into a reimbursement agreement with the Company pursuant to which each such Existing Holder has agreed to 
reimburse the Company, on a pro rata basis, in the event that the Company or any of its subsidiaries are obligated to make such 
a payment to Nike. 
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 In addition to the matter above, in the ordinary course of its business, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings 
involving contractual and employment relationships, product liability claims, trademark rights, and a variety of other matters. The 
Company does not believe there are any pending legal proceedings that will have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
position or results of operations.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET AND OTHER FINANCIAL RISKS

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk we incur due to fluctuating foreign exchange rates impacting our results of operations. We are 
exposed to foreign exchange rate risk driven by the fluctuations against the U.S. dollar of the currencies in which we collect our 
revenues: the Canadian dollar, euro, Swedish krona, Norwegian krona, and Danish krona. Our exposure also relates to debt held 
in Canadian dollars and purchases of goods and services in foreign currencies. While we purchase a majority of our products in 
U.S. dollars, we are exposed to cost variability due to fluctuations against the U.S. dollar of certain foreign currencies, primarily: 
the Canadian dollar, Chinese renminbi, Taiwan dollar, and Thai baht. We continuously monitor foreign exchange risk and have 
entered into various arrangements to mitigate our foreign currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the values of a financial instrument will be affected by changes in market interest rates. Our financing 
includes long-term debt and a Revolving Loan that bears interest based on floating market rates. Changes in these rates result in 
fluctuations in the required cash flow to service this debt. 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is when the counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, resulting in a financial loss to 
the Company. The counterparties to all derivative transactions are major financial institutions with investment grade credit ratings. 
However, this does not eliminate the Company’s exposure to credit risk with these institutions. This credit risk is generally limited 
to the unrealized gains in such contracts should any of these counterparties fail to perform as contracted. To manage this risk, the 
Company has established strict counterparty credit guidelines that are continually monitored and reported to senior management 
according to specified guidelines.
 We sell to a diverse customer base over a global geographic area. We evaluate collectability of specific customers receivables 
based on a variety of factors including currency risk, geopolitical risk, payment history, customer stability and other economic 
factors. Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis by management and the allowance for doubtful accounts 
is adjusted as required. Account balances are charged against the allowance for doubtful accounts when we determine that it is 
probable that the receivable will not be recovered. We believe that the geographic diversity of the customer base, combined with 
our established credit approval practices and ongoing monitoring of customer balances mitigates the counterparty risk.
 In the year ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, net revenues to a single customer were 10.5% and 9.4% of total net revenues, 
respectively.

Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that we will not be able to meet our financial obligations. We continually monitor our actual and projected 
cash flow. We believe our cash flows generated from operations combined with our revolving credit line provide sufficient funding 
to meet our obligations.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In connection with the Business Purchase in 2008, KSGI entered into several agreements with all or certain of the Existing Holders 
that are customary for businesses that are closely held or purchased and owned by private equity sponsors. These agreements 
include the KSGI Securityholders Agreement, the KSGI Registration Rights Agreement, a Management Services Agreement and 
consulting agreements with certain Kohlberg representatives on the KSGI board of directors. Upon the acquisition of the Bauer 
Business, a transaction fee was also payable to Kohlberg, as more particularly described in Note 5 to KSGI’s annual consolidated 
financial statements for Fiscal 2010. The business purpose of these transactions was to compensate Kohlberg and certain of 
its representatives for its ongoing advisory services to KSGI and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The nature of services included, 
among other things, (i) developing and implementing corporate business strategy and planning; (ii) arranging debt and equity 
financings and refinancing; and (iii) establishing, maintaining and evaluating banking, legal and other business relationships. In 
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connection with the IPO, each of the agreements referred to above was terminated. Pursuant to an agreement between Kohlberg 
and KSGI, KSGI paid Kohlberg an aggregate fee equal to $4.0 million upon completion of the IPO in connection with the termination 
of the Management Services Agreement. In connection with the IPO, the Existing Holders entered into certain securityholders’ 
agreements with the Company, including the Nomination Rights Agreement, the Voting Agreements, the Registration Rights 
Agreement and the Management Lock-Up Agreements, as more particular described under “Certain Securityholders Agreements” 
in Bauer’s final prospectus. Also, in connection with the termination of the existing consulting agreements, the Company paid on 
or about the date of closing of the IPO, a bonus of $0.3 million.
 On March 10, 2011, the Company entered into an agreement with a member of the Board of Directors who is not an employee 
of the Company. Under the agreement, the board member receives $0.1 million per year for providing consulting services to the 
Company in connection with business planning and strategy. The term of the agreement is until the next annual meeting of the 
shareholders’ of the Company and may renew on an annual basis upon the shareholders’ re-election of the board member as a 
director of the Company. See “Executive Compensation — Director Compensation” in Bauer’s final prospectus.
 On March 10, 2011, the Company also entered into agreements with certain members of the Board of Directors who will receive 
annual and certain committee fees, as applicable, for serving as directors. 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

Our audited consolidated financial statements for the three and twelve month periods ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 have been 
prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 
 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management 
to make a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period. Balances and transactions which are subject to such estimates and assumptions include: fair value 
determination of assets and liabilities in connection with purchase accounting and derivatives, valuation allowances for receivables 
and inventories, as well as product warranty, amortization periods, income taxes, and other provisions and contingencies. Due to 
the subjective nature of these estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates.
 We believe our critical accounting policies are those related to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, accounts 
receivable, inventory valuation, impairment of long-lived assets, intangible assets and goodwill, warranties and income taxes. We 
consider these policies critical because they are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and operating results, 
and they require us to make judgments and estimates about inherently uncertain matters.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the customer based on the terms of the sale, 
collection of the relevant receivable is probable, evidence of an arrangement exists and the sales price is fixed and determinable. 
Risk and rewards of ownership pass to the customer upon shipment or upon receipt by the customer depending on the country of 
the sale and the agreement with the customer. Provisions for sales discounts, returns and miscellaneous claims from customers 
are made at the time of sale.

Stock-based Compensation
The Company estimates the fair value of options granted under its stock option plans using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model. This pricing model requires management to make assumptions regarding share price volatility, share price on date of grant, 
dividend yield, expected life, and risk free interest rate. The Company recognizes the grant date fair value of its awards over the 
vesting period based on the number of options expected to vest using the graded vesting method. The cost is recorded in sales, 
general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Accounts Receivable
The Company carries its accounts receivable at invoiced amounts less allowance for doubtful accounts, returns, and discounts. In 
determining the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts, management evaluates the ability to collect accounts receivable 
based on a combination of factors. Reserves are maintained based on the length of time receivables are past due and on the 
status of a customer’s financial position. The Company considers historical levels of credit losses and makes judgments about 
the credit-worthiness of significant customers based on ongoing credit evaluations. Since we cannot predict future changes in the 
financial stability of our customers, actual future losses from uncollectible accounts may differ from our estimates. If the financial 
condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in their inability to make payments, a larger allowance might be required. 
In the event we determine that a change in allowance is appropriate, we would record a credit for such change to sales, general 
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and administrative expense in the period in which such a determination is made. In determining the amount of the sales return 
reserve, the Company considers historical levels of returns and makes assumptions about future returns. In addition, the Company 
maintains a reserve for discounts related to accounts receivable. 

Inventory Valuation
The Company follows Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) issued Handbook Section 3031, Inventories, which 
prescribes the accounting treatment for inventories.  Section 3031 provides guidance on the determination of cost and its 
subsequent recognition as an expense, including any write down to net realizable value. The standard also provides guidance on 
the cost formulas that are used to assign costs to inventories. 
 Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market value determined under the first-in, first-out method. The Company reserves 
for and writes down its inventories for estimated obsolete or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of 
inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions.
 The accuracy of our estimates can be affected by many factors, some of which are outside of our control, including changes 
in economic conditions and consumer buying trends.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from long-lived assets, including property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets with finite lives, to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists when events or 
circumstances indicate the carrying value of a long-lived asset may be impaired. Factors that would necessitate an impairment 
assessment include a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is used, a significant adverse change in 
legal factors or the business climate that could affect the value of the asset, or a significant decline in the observable market value 
of an asset, among others. If the carrying value exceeds the Company’s estimate of future undiscounted cash flows, the Company 
would then calculate the impairment as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over the Company’s estimate of its fair value.
 There were no impairments of long-lived assets recorded for the three and twelve month periods ended May 31, 2011 and 2010.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Company assesses intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill for impairment at least annually or when events indicate 
that impairment may exist.  Events or changes in circumstances that may trigger an impairment review include significant changes 
in business climate, operating results, planned investments, or an expectation that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, 
among others. The Company’s intangible assets with indefinite lives include trademarks and trade names.  In the impairment tests 
for indefinite-lived intangible assets, the estimated fair value is compared to the carrying value. The Company’s estimate of fair 
value of the trademarks and trade names is measured using the relief from royalty method, which is a standard form of discounted 
cash flow analysis typically used for the valuation of trademarks and trade names. The impairment test for goodwill requires the 
Company, in step one, to estimate the fair value of its reporting units. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, 
the goodwill of that reporting unit is potentially impaired and the Company proceeds to step two of the impairment analysis. In 
step two of the analysis, the Company measures and records an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying value of the 
reporting unit’s goodwill over its implied fair value should such a circumstance arise.
 The gross carrying amount of the identifiable intangible assets at May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $95.1 million and $84.1 million, 
respectively. The accumulated amortization expense of these intangible assets at May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $14.7 million and 
$11.0 million, respectively.
 The Company assesses the impairment of amortizing intangibles similar to long-lived assets. The Company’s intangible assets 
with definite lives include purchased technologies, customer relationships, non-compete agreements, deferred financing fees 
and computer software which are amortized over their useful lives. The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows 
to be derived from the long-lived assets to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash flows 
to be derived from the asset, the Company would then calculate the impairment as the excess of the Company’s estimate of the 
fair value over the carrying value of the asset. The Company’s estimate of fair value is measured using the following methods:
	 •	 Purchased	technology	using	the	relief	from	royalty	method,
	 •	 Customer	relationships	using	the	excess	earnings	approach,	and
	 •	 Non-compete	agreements	using	the	probability	adjusted	lost	cash	flow	method.
 In making assessments for impairment the Company relies on a number of factors including operating results, business plans, 
economic projections, anticipated future cash flows, and transactions and marketplace data.
 There were no impairments of intangible assets or goodwill recorded for the three and twelve month periods ended May 31, 
2011 and 2010.
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Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of future 
tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and 
the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted tax rates expected 
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect 
on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 
Future income taxes are reduced by a valuation allowance if, in the judgment of the Company’s management, it is more likely than 
not that such assets will not be realized.

RECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The	CICA	issued	section	3064,	Goodwill	and	Intangible	Assets,	which	established	standards	for	the	recognition,	measurement,	
presentation	and	disclosure	of	intangible	assets.	Section	3064	came	into	effect	for	annual	reporting	periods	beginning	on	or	after	
October	1,	2008,	replacing	section	3062,	Goodwill	and	Other	Intangible	Assets	and	section	3450,	Research	and	Development	
Costs. Adoption of this new standard commencing June 1, 2009 resulted in the reclassification of computer software costs from 
property, plant and equipment to intangible assets.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In February 2008, the CICA announced that Canadian GAAP for publically accountable enterprises is replaced by IFRS for fiscal 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Companies are required to provide IFRS comparative information for the previous 
fiscal year. Accordingly, the conversion from Canadian GAAP to IFRS is applicable to the Company’s reporting for the three months 
ended August 31, 2011 for which current and comparative information will be prepared under IFRS. 

CONVERSION TO INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

IFRS replaced Canadian GAAP for Canadian publicly accountable enterprises for interim and annual financial statements effective 
for fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Accordingly, the Company is required to prepare its financial statements 
according to IFRS for the three month period ending on August 31, 2011, for which current and comparative information will be 
prepared under IFRS. 
 The Company commenced its IFRS conversion project in Fiscal 2011. Project progress reports are provided to the Company’s 
Audit Committee on a periodic basis. 
 The IFRS conversion project consists of three phases: Diagnostic, Solution Development and Implementation and Execution. 
The IFRS transition plan includes a timetable for assessing the impact on financial reporting, internal controls over financial reporting 
and disclosure controls and procedures, information systems, business activities and financial reporting expertise.
 The Diagnostic phase is complete. The Company engaged an external advisor to provide a diagnostic assessment. The 
Diagnostic phase involves an assessment of the differences between Canadian GAAP and IFRS and the choices that exist. This 
assessment provides insight into the impact of the various accounting differences and choices on financial reporting and external 
disclosures. The assessment also highlights the most significant areas of difference between Canadian GAAP and IFRS applicable 
to us and the required effort involved in implementing the required changes.
 The Solution Development phase is complete. It involved a detailed analysis and evaluation of the financial reporting, 
internal control, information systems and business impact of the IFRS accounting policies and various alternatives under IFRS. 
The evaluations involve identifying and recommending implementation solutions for the mandatory changes under IFRS and 
recommending IFRS policies where choices exist. All recommended implementation solutions and policies are approved by senior 
management and were presented to the Audit Committee.
 The Implementation and Execution phase commenced in Fiscal 2011 and will continue into Fiscal 2012 to support the reporting 
requirements. It involves the detailed design, implementation and testing of the changes to financial reporting policies, internal 
controls, information systems and business processes. This phase also involves the collection of the information required for the 
preparation of IFRS comparative financial statements.
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Identify differences in Canadian 
GAAP/IFRS accounting policies 
(Diagnostic phase).

Select IFRS 1 First-time Adoption 
of International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS 1) choices.

Develop on-going IFRS policies.

Develop financial statement format.

Quantify effects of the transition in 
initial IFRS disclosure and Fiscal 2011 
comparative statements.

Complete the Diagnostic phase in the 
third quarter of Fiscal 2011.

Senior management approval of all 
key IFRS accounting policy choices 
to occur within the fourth quarter of 
Fiscal 2011.

Development of draft financial 
statement format to occur within the 
fourth quarter of Fiscal 2011.

Quantification of the effects of 
transition in initial IFRS disclosure 
and Fiscal 2011 comparative financial 
statements will occur within the 
fourth quarter of Fiscal 2011.

Diagnostic assessment is complete. 

Senior management approval of 
all key IFRS accounting policies is 
complete.

Development of draft financial 
statement format is complete.

Financial reporting preparation is 
occurring as planned.

FINANCIAL REPORTING PREPARATION

For all accounting policy changes 
identified, assess implications and 
implement changes if required to 
ensure the design and effectiveness 
of the following:
•	 Internal	Controls	over	Financial	 
 Reporting (ICFR);
•	 Disclosure	Controls	and	 
 Procedures (DC&P).

Analysis of control issues will be 
completed in conjunction with review 
of accounting issues and policies 
within the fourth quarter of Fiscal 
2011.

Implementation and testing of 
controls over the new procedures 
will occur within the fourth quarter 
of Fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of 
Fiscal 2012.

Control environment assessment is 
complete.  

Implementation and testing of 
controls will occur throughout Fiscal 
2012.

Assessment, development and 
testing of system solutions for 
the transition and post-transition 
reporting.

Determination of systems 
implications and solutions for the 
transition and ongoing reporting 
within the fourth quarter of Fiscal 
2011.

System solutions will be addressed 
to enable reporting under IFRS for 
the first quarter of Fiscal 2012.

Information systems assessment is 
complete. 

Implementation is occurring as 
planned.

 The following table contains certain elements of our IFRS transition plan, the key milestones set to ensure completion of these 
elements and an assessment of our progress towards achieving these milestones.

  KEY ACTIVITIES KEY MILESTONES STATUS

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT

INFORMATION SYSTEMS
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

Determine the impact of IFRS on 
business activities and implement 
changes if required in the following 
areas:
•	 	Financial	covenants
•	 	Compensation	arrangements
•	 	Contractual	terms
•	 	Treasury	practices

Identification of impacts of IFRS 
on financial covenants, business 
practices and compensation 
arrangements within the fourth 
quarter of Fiscal 2011. 

The implementation of any required 
solutions and renegotiations are 
planned to be completed in the first 
quarter of Fiscal 2012.

Business activity assessment 
is complete. Implementation is 
expected to occur as planned.

  KEY ACTIVITIES KEY MILESTONES STATUS

FINANCIAL REPORTING EXPERTISE

Define and introduce appropriate 
level of expertise for finance and 
accounting personnel.

Training to occur within the fourth 
quarter of Fiscal 2011

Training is in process and will be 
supplemented as needed.

The Company has completed the diagnostic assessment. The areas of accounting difference having the most significant 
potential impact on our consolidated financial statements were identified to include (i) initial adoption of IFRS under the provisions 
of IFRS 1, First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS 1”); (ii) property, plant and equipment;  
(iii) employee benefits; (iv) stock based compensation; (v) impairment of assets; (vi) business combinations and (vii) income 
taxes. The list is subject to change based on developments in the Solution Development and Implementation and Execution 
phases and new information and circumstances. 
 The information below is provided to allow investors and others to obtain an understanding of the preliminary unaudited effects 
of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and operating performance measures. The changes described below should 
not be regarded as a complete description of the changes resulting from the transition to IFRS. Readers are cautioned that the 
determinations and financial impacts are based on preliminary IFRS 1 elections and exemptions and IFRS policy choices and may 
be subject to change.
 The International Accounting Standards Board has significant ongoing projects that could change the current standards under 
IFRS and their impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. Therefore, the Company’s analysis of changes and 
accounting policy decisions have been made based on the accounting standards that are currently in effect. To date, the Company 
has made preliminary decisions relating to certain IFRS policies as discussed below. The following information is contingent on the 
standards that will be effective as at May 31, 2012, the date of the Company’s first audited annual consolidated financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. Certain standards have exposure drafts issued. As at the date of this MD&A, there are no IFRS 
exposure drafts that are expected to create a change during the Company’s transition to IFRS.
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 The table below summarizes the estimated impact of conversion to IFRS from the unaudited (except where otherwise noted) 
consolidated statements of operations for each of the interim periods and the year ended May 31, 2011, based on the preliminary 
elections and exemptions noted below (in millions except per share data):

  Three Months Ended Fiscal Year Ended
  August 31, 2010 November 30, 2010 February 28, 2011 May 31, 2011 May 31, 2011

      Canadian
(dollars in millions;  Canadian Canadian Canadian Canadian GAAP
per share in dollars ) GAAP IFRS GAAP IFRS GAAP IFRS GAAP IFRS (audited) IFRS

Net	revenues		 $	110.3		 $		110.3		 $		 79.2		 $		 79.2		 $		 48.4		 $		 48.4		 $		 68.2		 $		 68.2		 $		306.1		 $		306.1
Operating income (loss)   24.3   24.5   5.0   5.2   (5.2)   (5.1)   3.3   3.7   27.4   28.3
Net income (loss)   15.4   15.3   (1.9)   (1.9)   (10.9)   (10.9)   (2.2)   (2.1)   0.4   0.4
Basic earnings (loss) per
 common share (1)		 $		 0.51		 $		 0.51		 $		(0.06)		 $	 (0.06)		 $		(0.36)		 $		(0.36)		 $		(0.07)		 $		(0.07)		 $		 0.01		 $		 0.01
Diluted earnings (loss)
 per common share (1)		 $		 0.49		 $		 0.49		 $		(0.06)		 $		(0.06)		 $		(0.35)		 $		(0.35)		 $		(0.07)	 $		(0.07)		 $	 0.01		 $	 0.01
Adjusted	EBITDA		 $		 28.3		 $		 28.4		 $		 7.9		 $		 7.9		 $		 (2.8)		 $		 (2.7)		 $		 10.1		 $		 10.0		 $		 43.5		 $		 43.6

(1) Canadian GAAP earnings (loss) per common share for Q1 through Q3 Fiscal 2011 reflect the reorganization and the IPO. Before and after the 
reorganization, issued and outstanding Common Shares were ordinary shares of KSGI were 108,069,808 and issued and outstanding Common 
Shares for Bauer Performance Sports Ltd. were 30,046,115. Please refer to the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements particularly 
Notes 1 – Basis of Presentation and Note 17 – Share Capital for details.

 The table below summarizes the estimated impact of conversion to IFRS on the Company’s unaudited opening transitional 
balance sheet as at June 1, 2010 and as at June 1, 2011, based on the preliminary elections and exemptions noted below (in millions):

  As at June 1, 2010 As at June 1, 2011

  Canadian  Canadian
  GAAP IFRS GAAP IFRS
(dollars in millions)   (audited)  (unaudited) (audited)  (unaudited) 

Total assets  $  239.2  $  237.7  $  311.3  $  309.0
Total	liabilities		 $		 156.4		 $		 154.6		 $		 229.8		 $		 226.7
Stockholders’ equity  $  82.8  $  83.1  $  81.5  $  82.3

 The Company has preliminarily identified a number of balance sheet presentation changes that have no retained earnings 
impact. These changes include the reclassifications of future tax assets from current to non-current assets, certain accrued 
liabilities to provisions, certain other non-current liabilities to provisions, and short-term debt, long-term debt and capital lease 
payables to current and non-current debt.
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IFRS 1
IFRS 1 provides the framework for the first time adoption of IFRS and specifies that, in general an entity shall apply the principles 
under IFRS retrospectively. IFRS 1 also specifies that the adjustments that arise on retrospective conversion to IFRS from Canadian 
GAAP should be directly recognized in retained earnings, with certain exceptions. The Company is required to apply retrospectively 
all IFRS that are effective at the end of our first IFRS annual reporting period, the fiscal year ended May 31, 2012. Certain optional 
exemptions and mandatory exceptions to retrospective application are provided under IFRS 1. The Company has completed the 
analysis of the IFRS 1 optional and mandatory exemptions.

•	 Cumulative translation differences — IFRS requires an entity to determine the translation differences in accordance with 
IFRS from the date on which a subsidiary was formed or acquired. IFRS 1 allows cumulative translation differences for all 
foreign operations to be deemed zero at the date of transition to IFRS, with future gains or losses on subsequent disposal 
of any foreign operations to exclude translation differences arising from periods prior to the date of transition to IFRS. The 
Company used this exemption.

•	 Business combinations — the Company is required to retroactively apply IFRS to all business combinations, but may elect 
to apply the standard prospectively only to those business combinations that occur after the date of transition to IFRS. The 
Company has used this exemption which removes the requirement to retrospectively restate all business combinations 
prior to the date of transition to IFRS.

•	 Employee benefits — the Company has chosen to recognize actuarial gains and losses in other comprehensive income in 
the period in which they occur, thus the optional exemption under IFRS 1 would not apply.

•	 Property, plant and equipment — the Company is permitted to use fair value of property, plant and equipment as the new 
cost basis on the transition date. This optional exemption is available on an asset-by-asset basis. The Company will not 
utilize the deemed cost exemption.

Property, plant and equipment
IFRS and Canadian GAAP contain the same basic principles for property, plant and equipment; however, differences in application 
do exist. Separate accounting for components of property, plant and equipment is applied more explicitly under IFRS. Costs are 
allocated to significant parts of an asset if the useful lives differ, and each part is then separately depreciated. Upon implementation 
of IFRS, the Company currently expects no impact to the opening balance sheet. In addition, IFRS allows either the cost model 
or the revaluation model to measure property, plant and equipment subsequent to transition. The Company currently expects to 
continue to use the cost model; therefore, there should be no impact to the financial statements.

Employee benefits
Under IFRS, actuarial gains and losses can be recognized using either (i) the corridor method, (ii) any systematic method that results 
in faster recognition, or (iii) in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Under Canadian GAAP, actuarial gains 
and losses are recognized on the balance sheet applying a corridor approach. The Company has chosen to recognize actuarial 
gains and losses in other comprehensive income in the period in which they occur. Upon implementation of IFRS, the impact to 
the opening balance sheet is not expected to be significant.

Stock-based compensation
Under IFRS, each tranche of an award is considered a separate grant with a different vesting date and fair value, and each is 
accounted for separately. Under Canadian GAAP, the fair value of a stock-based award with graded vesting is recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the vesting period. IFRS also does not prescribe the use of a specific method on how the expected 
life of stock options is to be determined, but requires consideration of the following factors (i) the length of the vesting period,  
(ii) the average length of time similar options have remained outstanding in the past, (iii) the price of the underlying shares, (iv) the 
employee’s level within the organization, and (v) expected volatility of the underlying shares. Additionally, under IFRS, employer 
taxes payable on the option expense must be accrued based on the intrinsic value at the reporting date. Upon implementation 
of IFRS, the Company currently expects to record an increase in liabilities of approximately $0.1 million before tax, an increase to 
additional paid-in capital of $0.3 million before tax, with a corresponding impact to accumulated deficit resulting from the items 
described above. 
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Deferred financing costs
Under IFRS, deferred financing costs are presented net of the long-term debt for which they were incurred and amortized over 
the term of the facility to interest expense. Under Canadian GAAP, deferred financing costs related to a revolving credit line are 
included in intangible assets and amortized over the term of the facility to amortization expense. Upon implementation of IFRS, the 
Company currently expects to record a decrease in assets of approximately $1.8 million with a corresponding impact to liabilities. 

Impairment of assets
IFRS uses a one-step approach for testing and measuring asset impairments, with asset carrying values being compared to the 
higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell. Value in use is defined as being equal to the present value of future cash flows 
expected to be derived from the asset. In the absence of an active market, fair value less costs to sell may also be determined 
using discounted cash flows. IFRS requires that goodwill be allocated and tested for impairment at the level of cash generating 
unit (CGU) or group of CGUs. CGUs represent the lowest level of assets or groups of assets that generate largely independent 
cash inflows. Under IFRS, each CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill is allocated should represent the lowest level within the 
entity for which information about goodwill is available and monitored for internal management purposes. This level of grouping is 
potentially more granular when compared to the Canadian GAAP reporting unit. With the exception of goodwill, IFRS also requires 
the reversal of any impairment losses where circumstances requiring the impairment charge have changed.
 Under Canadian GAAP, undiscounted future cash flows are compared against the asset’s carrying value to determine if 
impairment exists for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with definite lives. This may result in more frequent write 
downs in the carrying value of assets under IFRS since asset carrying values that were previously supported under Canadian GAAP 
based on undiscounted cash flows may not be supported on a discounted cash flow basis under IFRS. Under Canadian GAAP, 
impairment of intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill is determined by comparing the carrying value of the asset to the 
estimate of fair value.
 Upon implementation of IFRS, the Company currently expects no impact to the opening balance sheet.

Business combinations
Under IFRS 3, Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”), business combinations must be accounted for by applying the acquisition 
method. One of the parties to a business combination can always be identified as the acquirer, being the entity that obtains control 
of the other business. Control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. The Company, as an acquirer, shall identify the date on which it obtains control of an acquiree. This 
date is usually the closing date of the acquisition, which would generally be the date on which the Company legally transfers the 
consideration or acquires the assets and assumes the liabilities of the acquiree. As of the date on which it obtains control, the 
Company shall recognize, separately from goodwill, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. Acquisition related 
costs incurred to effect a business combination shall be expensed in the period the costs are incurred.
 For business combinations after the date of transition to IFRS, the business combination is required to be restated in accordance 
with IFRS 3.
 Upon implementation of IFRS, the Company expects no impact to the opening balance sheet.

Income Taxes
The Company has calculated the preliminary tax effect of its IFRS adjustments. Upon implementation of IFRS, the Company 
currently expects to record an increase in assets of approximately $0.3 million with a corresponding impact to stockholders’ equity. 
The Company will assess the impact of income taxes throughout the project.
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Future Accounting Standards
The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) issued IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which will ultimately replace IAS 
39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. The replacement of IAS 39 is a multi-phase project with the objective 
of improving and simplifying the reporting for financial instruments and the issuance of IFRS 9 is part of the first phase. IFRS 9 
becomes effective on January 1, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing early application.
 The IASB issued IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements, which establishes principles for the presentation and preparation 
of consolidated financial statements when an entity controls one or more other entities. IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27, Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and SIC 12, Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities and is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of this 
standard on its consolidated financial statements.
 The IASB issued IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities which applies to entities that have an interest in a subsidiary, 
a joint arrangement, an associate or an unconsolidated structured entity. IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of this standard on its 
consolidated financial statements.
 The IASB issued IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurements which defines fair value, sets out in a single IFRS framework for measuring 
fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements. IFRS 13 applies to IFRSs that require or permit fair value 
measurements or disclosures about fair value measurements (and measurements, such as fair value less costs to sell, based on 
fair value or disclosures about those measurements), except in specified circumstances. IFRS 13 is to be applied for annual periods 
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is in the process of assessing the impact of this 
standard on its consolidated financial statements.   
 The IASB will continue to issue new accounting standards during the period of conversion. The Company continues to monitor 
standards development as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the Accounting Standards Board (AcSB), 
as well as regulatory developments as issued by the Canadian Securities Administrators (CSA), which may affect the timing, nature 
or disclosure of our adoption of IFRS. 

Controls and Procedures
The Company will file the alternative form of annual certificate in reliance on section 4.3 of National Instrument 52-109 since the 
fiscal year ended May 31, 2011 is the Company’s first financial period that ended after the completion of the IPO.

Risk Factors
For a detailed description of risk factors associated with the Company, refer to the “Risk Factors” section of Bauer’s final prospectus. 
The Company is not aware of any significant changes to Bauer’s risk factors from those disclosed at that time.

Additional Information
Additional information relating to the Bauer Performance Sports Ltd., including continuous disclosure documents, is available on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.

Common Share Trading Information
The Company’s Common Shares trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “BAU” and began trading on March 10, 
2011.		As	at	August	17,	2011,	the	Company	had	the	equivalent	of	30,046,115	Common	Shares	issued	and	outstanding	(assuming	
the conversion of the Proportionate Voting shares issued to Common Shares on the basis of 1,000 Common Shares for one 
Proportionate	Voting	Share).	Assuming	exercise	of	all	outstanding	stock	options,	there	would	be	the	equivalent	of	31,406,618	
Common Shares issued and outstanding (assuming conversion) on a fully diluted basis as at August 17, 2011. Options to purchase 
an	additional	1,638,484	of	Common	Stock	were	outstanding	but	were	not	included	in	the	computation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share	
because the options were anti-dilutive.
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APPENDIX

Glossary of Terms

“2011 Plan” means the 2011 stock option plan of the Company 
adopted on March 10, 2011.

“Adjusted EBITDA” has the meaning set out under “Financial 
Measures and Key Performance Indicators”.

“Adjusted Gross Profit” has the meaning set out under “Finan-
cial Measures and Key Performance Indicators”.

“Bauer Business” means the business as currently carried on 
by Bauer Hockey Corp., Bauer Hockey, Inc. and their respec-
tive subsidiaries, consisting of, among other things, the design 
development, manufacturing and marketing of performance 
sports products of ice hockey, roller hockey and lacrosse.

“Business Purchase” means the purchase of the Bauer Busi-
ness	by	the	Existing	Holders	from	Nike	on	April	16,	2008.

“Canadian Borrower” is the Bauer Hockey Corp. subsidiary 
of KSGI.

“Common Shares” means the common shares of the Company.

“Existing Holders” means the former securityholders of KSGI 
who sold KSGI and its subsidiaries to Bauer on March 10, 2011 
pursuant to the acquisition agreement dated March 3, 2011.

“Gross profit margin” means gross profit margin divided by 
net revenues.

“Jock Plus Hockey Intellectual Property Acquisition” means 
the acquisition of intellectual property assets from Jock Plus 
Hockey in November 2009.

“Kohlberg Funds” means, collectively, Kohlberg TE Investors 
VI, LP, Kohlberg Investors VI, LP, Kohlberg Partners VI, LP, and 
KOCO Investors VI, LP, each of which are Existing Holders and 
funds advised or managed by Kohlberg Management VI, LLC.

“KSGI Registration Rights Agreement” means the registra-
tion rights agreement in respect of KSGI that was terminated 
on March 10, 2011.

“KSGI Securityholders Agreement” means the securityholders 
agreement in respect of KSGI that was terminated on March 
10, 2011.

“Management Lock-Up Agreements” mean the lock-up agree-
ments dated March 10, 2011 between the Company and each 
of certain members of management.

“Management Services Agreement” means the management 
services agreement between subsidiaries of KSGI and Kohlberg 
& Company L.L.C. that was terminated on March 10, 2011. 

“Maverik Lacrosse Acquisition” means the strategic acquisi-
tion of Maverik Lacrosse, LLC in June 2010.

“New Options” means options granted under the 2011 plan.

“Mission-ITECH Acquisition” means the strategic acquisition 
of Mission-ITECH Hockey Inc. in September 2008.

“Nike” means NIKE, Inc., including its affiliates, as applicable.

“Nomination Rights Agreement” means the nomination rights 
agreement dated March 10, 2011 among the Company and each 
of the Kohlberg Funds. 

“Old Facility” means the $142.0 million credit facility that was 
amended and restated by the New Credit Facility. 

“Old Notes” means the senior subordinated promissory notes 
that were redeemed and cancelled on March 10, 2011.

“Predecessor Plan”	KSGI’s	equity	incentive	plan	dated	April	16,	
2008 that was terminated on March 10, 2011.

“Proportionate Voting Shares” means the proportionate voting 
shares of the Company.

“Registration Rights Agreement” means the registration rights 
agreement dated March 10, 2011 among the Company and the 
Existing Holders.

“Rollover Options” means options granted under the Rollover 
Plan.

“Rollover Plan” means the Predecessor Plan assumed by the 
Company on March 10, 2011 in connection with the exchange 
of predecessor options for fully vested and exercisable rollover 
options. 

“U.S. Borrower” is the Bauer Hockey, Inc. subsidiary of KSGI.

“Voting Agreements” mean the voting agreements dated 
March 10, 2011 between the Company and each of certain Ex-
isting Holders. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Shareholders of Bauer Performance Sports Ltd.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Bauer Performance Sports Ltd., which comprise the 
consolidated balance sheets as at May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, and the consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ 
equity and comprehensive income (loss) and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted 
our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.
 An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
 We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position 
of Bauer Performance Sports Ltd. as at May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, and its consolidated results of operations and its 
consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG LLP

August 17, 2011 
Boston, Massachusetts USA
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)
 
  As of May 31, 2011 As of May 31, 2010

Assets
Current assets:
 Cash  $ 1,985   $ 4,157 
 Accounts receivable, net   88,818    72,072 
 Inventories, net   91,202    52,411 
 Future income taxes   5,791    5,311 
 Income taxes receivable   3,145    –   
 Other current assets   2,037    3,804 
Total current assets   192,978    137,755 
   
Property, plant and equipment   7,049    4,551 
Intangible assets   80,365    73,012 
Goodwill   8,900    –   
Other non-current assets   1,821    5,173 
Future income taxes   20,203    18,707 

Total assets  $ 311,316  $ 239,198 

Liabilities & stockholders’ equity
Current liabilities:
 Short-term debt  $ 21,410  $ 19,023 
 Current portion of long-term debt   6,989		 	 	4,876	
 Current portion of capital lease payable   81    10 
 Accounts payable    33,519 	 	 	16,548	
 Accrued liabilities   32,070    24,894 
 Income taxes payable   629		 	 	306	
 Current portion benefit plans   380    349 
Total current liabilities   95,078  	 	66,006	
   
Long-term debt   123,661    84,545 
Capital lease payable   156    -   
Benefit plans   4,996 	 	 	4,690	
Other non-current liabilities   5,955    1,132 
Total liabilities   229,846 	 	 156,373	

Stockholders’ equity
 Share capital   107,730    107,730 
 Contributed surplus   568    4,088 
 Accumulated deficit   (22,727)   (23,128)
 Accumulated other comprehensive loss     (4,101)	 		 (5,865)

Total stockholders’ equity   81,470    82,825 

Total liabilities & stockholders’ equity  $ 311,316  $ 239,198

Commitments and contingencies (Note 20)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

Chris Anderson Shant Mardirossian
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

     Accumulated
     Other Total
   Contributed Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’
  Share Capital (1) Surplus (1) Deficit Loss Equity

Balance at May 31, 2009   $  107,730 $ 2,941 $ (25,526) $ (7,964) $ 77,181
Stock-based compensation plan     1,147      1,147
Comprehensive income:
 Net income       2,398    2,398
 Foreign currency translation adjustments         2,099  2,099

Total comprehensive income  –  –  2,398  2,099  4,497

Balance at May 31, 2010 $ 107,730 $ 4,088 $ (23,128) $ (5,865) $ 82,825  
Stock-based compensation plan     1,519      1,519
Initial public offering costs     (5,039)      (5,039)
Comprehensive income:
 Net income       401    401
	 Foreign	currency	translation	adjustments	 	 	 	 	 	 	 	 1,764	 	 1,764
Total	comprehensive	income		 	 –	 	 –	 	 401	 	 1,764	 	 2,165

Balance at May 31, 2011 $ 107,730 $ 568 $ (22,727) $ (4,101) $ 81,470

(1) Share Capital and Contributed Surplus has been restated to reflect the Reorganization and Initial Public Offering. Refer to Note 1 – Basis of 
Presentation and Note 17- Share Capital for details.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share data)

For the years ended May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010

Net revenues $ 306,076 $ 257,385
Cost of goods sold  187,000	 	 168,261

Gross profit $ 119,076 $ 89,124

Selling, general and administrative expenses  80,157	 	 61,702
Research and development expenses  11,478	 	 	9,657

Operating income $ 27,441	 $	 17,765	

Other (income) expense:
 Interest expense  12,478   12,028 
 Interest income  (574)  (357)
 Loss on early extinguishment of debt   2,830   – 
 Realized losses on derivative instruments   2,840		 	 	5,360	
 Unrealized losses (gains) on derivative instruments   12,381		 	 (4,796)
 Foreign exchange gains, net and other  (3,293)	 	 (756)
Total other expense  26,662  11,479  

Income before income tax expense $ 779 	 $	 6,286	

 Income tax expense   378   3,888 

Net income $ 401  $ 2,398 

Basic and diluted earnings per common share $ 0.01  $ 0.08 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)

For the years ended May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 401  $ 2,398
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities:
 Stock-based compensation  1,519    1,147
 Depreciation and amortization  7,955		 	 	7,963
 Loss (gain) on disposal of assets   (38)   558
 Unrealized losses (gains) on derivative instruments   12,381		 	 	(4,796)	
 Allowance for doubtful accounts   377		 	 	160
 Write-off of deferred financing fees   2,220   – 
 Future income taxes   (1,052)   3,021
 Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in assets and liabilities (excluding acquisition):     
  Accounts receivable   (13,243)   (3,088)
  Inventories   (35,336)   8,419
  Prepaid expenses and other   (3,013)	 	 	(2,664)
  Other assets   1,731    (254)
  Accounts payable   15,776		 	 	(6,651)
  Accrued and other liabilities   (1,009)	 	 	(4,620)
Net cash flows from operating activities   (11,331)   1,593  

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions, net of cash   (11,547)   (3,400)
Acquisition fees   (534)  – 
Investment in property, plant and equipment   (5,376)   (1,502)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment   46  – 
Net cash flows from investing activities   (17,411)   (4,902) 

Cash flows from financing activities:
Repayments of long-term debt   (87,545)   (17,507)
Proceeds from long-term debt 97,303  – 
Net proceeds from short-term borrowing 26,730		 	15,667
Debt issuance costs (4,900)  – 
Proceeds from initial public offering 75,307  – 
Cash paid in share exchange (75,307) –
Cash paid for initial public offering fees  (5,039)  –
Net cash flows from financing activities  26,549  (1,840)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  21   (137)

Decrease in cash  (2,172)	 		 (5,286)

Beginning cash  4,157  9,443

Ending cash $ 1,985 $ 4,157 

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:
 Interest paid   $11,865		 	 	$10,466
 Taxes paid   3,115		 	 	866
 Non-cash items:
  Capitalized paid-in-kind interest   915    1,171
  Acquisition contingent consideration   2,014   –

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1  BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Bauer Performance Sports Ltd. (“Bauer” or the “Company”) is a public company incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Province 
of British Columbia. 
 Bauer is engaged in the design, manufacture and distribution of performance sports equipment for ice hockey, roller hockey, 
and lacrosse, as well as related apparel and accessories. The ice hockey products include skates, skate blades, protective gear, 
sticks, team apparel and accessories. The roller hockey products include skates, protective gear and accessories. The lacrosse 
products include sticks (shafts and heads), gloves, and protective equipment. The Company distributes its products primarily 
in the United States, Canada and Europe to specialty retail stores, sporting goods and national retail chains as well as directly 
to sports teams. The Company is headquartered in Exeter, New Hampshire and has leased sales offices in the United States, 
Canada, Sweden, Germany and Finland. The Company has a leased distribution center located in Toronto, Ontario, and third 
party distribution centers in Boras, Sweden and Aurora, Illinois. The Company also has research and development and limited 
manufacturing at a leased facility in St. Jerome, Quebec and a leased sourcing office in Taiwan.

Reorganization and Initial Public Offering
Bauer Performance Sports Ltd. was incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Province of British Columbia on December 2, 2010 
for the purpose of completing the public offering of its shares and the concurrent acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of Kohlberg Sports 
Group Inc. (“KSGI”), a Cayman Island corporation. 
 On March 10, 2011, Bauer completed its initial public offering by issuing 10,000,000 common shares at a price of $7.50 Canadian 
dollars per share (the “Offering”), for aggregate proceeds, net of underwriting fees of $4,500,000 Canadian dollars, of $70,500,000 
Canadian dollars. Bauer granted to the underwriters of the Offering an over-allotment option, exercisable, in whole or in part, at 
the sole discretion of the underwriters, for a period of 30 days from the closing of the Offering, to purchase up to an additional 
1,500,000	Common	Shares	for	aggregate	gross	proceeds	of	$86,250,000	Canadian	dollars.	On	April	8,	2011,	the	underwriters	
exercised a part of the over-allotment option and purchased 350,000 Common Shares resulting in aggregate proceeds, net of 
underwriting	fees	of	$4,658,000	Canadian	dollars,	of	$72,968,000	Canadian	dollars	($75,307,000	U.S.	dollars).
 Concurrent with the closing of the Offering and subsequently through the partial exercise of the over-allotment option on April 
8, 2011, Bauer acquired all of the issued shares of KSGI in exchange for a combination of common shares and proportionate voting 
shares	representing	a	65.6%	equity	and	voting	interest	in	Bauer	(54.6%	on	a	fully	diluted	basis),	plus	$72,968,000	Canadian	dollars	
($75,307,000 U.S. dollars) in cash being the net proceeds of the Offering and the over-allotment option received by Bauer (exclusive 
of expenses of the Offering and the over-allotment option).
	 After	the	completion	of	the	Offering	and	the	overallotment	option	exercised	on	April	8,	2011,	an	equivalent	of	30,046,115	Common	
Shares (assuming the conversion of all Proportionate Voting Shares to Common Shares on the basis of 1,000 Common Shares for 
one Proportionate Voting Share) were issued and outstanding on a non-diluted basis. Refer to Note 17 – Share Capital for additional 
information on the financial impact of the reorganization and initial public offering on the Company’s financial position.
 The acquisition is accounted for as a capital transaction and is a continuation of the business operations of KSGI. The balance 
sheets as of May 31, 2011 and 2010, statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), statements of operations 
and statements of cash flows for the years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 are consolidated. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 
(Expressed in thousands of U.S. dollars)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010

NOTE 2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles 
(“Canadian GAAP”).

Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes include the accounts of Bauer Performance Sports Ltd. 
and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2011 and 2010. All intercompany transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Canadian GAAP requires management to make a number of estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the 
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of net revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Balances 
and transactions which are subject to such estimates and assumptions include: fair value determination of assets and liabilities 
in connection with purchase accounting and derivatives, valuation allowances for receivables and inventories, as well as product 
warranty, amortization periods, income taxes, and other provisions and contingencies. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when the risks and rewards of ownership have passed to the customer based on the terms of the sale, 
collection of the relevant receivable is probable, evidence of an arrangement exists and the sales price is fixed and determinable. 
Risk and rewards of ownership pass to the customer upon shipment or upon receipt by the customer depending on the country of 
the sale and the agreement with the customer. Provisions for sales discounts, returns and miscellaneous claims from customers 
are made at the time of sale.

Shipping and Handling Costs 
Shipping and handling costs on outbound shipments are expensed as incurred and included in cost of goods sold. Amounts billed 
to customers for shipping and handling costs are included in net revenues. 

Advertising and Promotion 
Advertising production costs are expensed as incurred and are included as a component of selling, general and administrative 
expenses. 
 A significant amount of the Company’s promotional expenses result from payments under endorsement contracts. Accounting 
for endorsement payments is based upon specific contract provisions. Generally, endorsement payments are expensed on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the contract after giving recognition to periodic performance compliance provisions of the 
contracts. Prepayments made under contracts are included in other current assets.
 Through cooperative advertising programs, the Company reimburses its retail customers for certain of their costs of advertising 
the Company’s products. The Company records these costs as a reduction of net revenues at the point in time when it is obligated 
to its customers for the costs, which is when the related revenues are recognized. This obligation may arise prior to the related 
advertisement being run.

Research and Development Costs
Research costs are charged to operations as incurred and product development costs are deferred if the product or process 
and its market or usefulness are defined, has reached technical feasibility, adequate resources exist or are expected to exist to 
complete the project and management intends to market or use the product or process. Technical feasibility is attained when the 
product or process has completed testing and has been determined to be viable for its intended use. To date, no development 
costs have been capitalized.

Stock-based Compensation
The Company estimates the fair value of options granted under its stock option plans using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
The Company recognizes the grant date fair value of its awards over the vesting period based on the number of options expected 
to vest using the graded vesting method. The cost is classified in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statements of operations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010

Earnings Per Share 
Basic earnings per common share are calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per common share are calculated by adjusting the weighted average outstanding 
shares, assuming conversion of all potentially dilutive stock options.

Accounts Receivable 
The Company carries its accounts receivable at invoiced amounts less allowance for doubtful accounts, returns, and discounts. In 
determining the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts, management evaluates the ability to collect accounts receivable 
based on a combination of factors. Reserves are maintained based on the length of time receivables are past due and on the 
status of a customer’s financial position. The Company considers historical levels of credit losses and makes judgments about 
the creditworthiness of significant customers based on ongoing credit evaluations. In determining the amount of the sales return 
reserve, the Company considers historical levels of returns and makes assumptions about future returns. In addition, the Company 
maintains a reserve for discounts related to accounts receivable. 

Inventory Valuation
The Company follows CICA issued Handbook Section 3031, Inventories, which prescribes the accounting treatment for inventories. 
Section 3031 provides guidance on the determination of cost and its subsequent recognition as an expense, including any write 
down to net realizable value. The standard also provides guidance on the cost formulas that are used to assign costs to inventories. 
 Inventory is stated at lower of cost or market value determined under the first-in, first-out method. The Company reserves 
for and writes down its inventories for estimated obsolete or unmarketable inventory equal to the difference between the cost of 
inventory and the estimated market value based upon assumptions about future demand and market conditions.
 Inventory costs within cost of goods sold in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 
2010	were	$179,589,000	and	$161,261,000,	respectively.	Included	in	inventory	costs	for	the	years	ended	May,	2011	and	2010	was	
$1,123,000 and $3,209,000, respectively, related to the impairment of slow moving inventory.
 Inventory costs within selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations for the years 
ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 were $4,339,000 and $3,252,000, respectively. These costs represent inventory shipped to customers 
at no charge.

Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation 
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows:

 Machinery and equipment   2-8 years
 Data processing equipment   3-5 years
 Furniture and fixtures  2-8 years
 Leasehold improvements and capitalized lease assets  Shorter of lease term or remaining life of the assets

 Expenditures for new facilities and equipment, and those that substantially increase the useful lives of the property, are 
capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. When properties are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related 
cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts, and gains or losses on the dispositions are reflected in results 
of operations. 

Deferred Financing Costs
Deferred financing costs relating to long-term debt are presented as a reduction of the carrying amount of long-term debt on the 
consolidated balance sheets and the effective interest method is used to amortize the costs. Deferred financing costs relating to 
loan commitments for the revolving credit facility are presented as a component of intangible assets on the consolidated balance 
sheets and the costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the loan commitment.
 Amortization expense of financing costs relating to the issuance of long-term debt, which is included in interest expense in 
the consolidated statements of operations, was $753,000 and $724,000 for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
Included in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended May 31, 2011 was a $2,220,000 write-off of the remaining 
deferred financing fees related to the credit facilities which were terminated on March 10, 2011. Refer to Note 11 - Debt. Amortization 
expense of financing costs relating to loan commitments for the revolving credit facility, which is included in selling, general and 
administrative	expenses	in	the	consolidated	statements	of	operations,	was	$769,000	and	$589,000	for	the	years	ended	May	31,	
2011 and 2010, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 
The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash flows to be derived from long-lived assets to assess whether or not a potential 
impairment exists when events or circumstances indicate the carrying value of a long-lived asset may be impaired. Factors that 
would necessitate an impairment assessment include a significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which an asset is 
used, a significant adverse change in legal factors or the business climate that could affect the value of the asset, or a significant 
decline in the observable market value of an asset, among others. If the carrying value exceeds the Company’s estimate of future 
undiscounted cash flows, the Company would then calculate the impairment as the excess of the carrying value of the asset over 
the Company’s estimate of its fair market value. 
 There were no impairments of long-lived assets recorded for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010.

Intangible Assets and Goodwill
The Company assesses intangible assets with indefinite lives and goodwill for impairment at least annually or when events indicate 
that impairment may exist. Events or changes in circumstances that may trigger an impairment review include significant changes 
in business climate, operating results, planned investments, or an expectation that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, 
among others. The Company’s intangible assets with indefinite lives include trademarks and trade names. In the impairment tests 
for indefinite-lived intangible assets, the estimated fair value is compared to the carrying value. The Company’s estimate of fair 
value of the trademarks and trade names is measured using the relief from royalty method, which is a standard form of discounted 
cash flow analysis typically used for the valuation of trademarks and trade names. The impairment test for goodwill requires the 
Company, in step one, to estimate the fair value of its reporting units. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds its fair value, 
the goodwill of that reporting unit is potentially impaired and the Company proceeds to step two of the impairment analysis. In 
step two of the analysis, the Company measures and records an impairment loss equal to the excess of the carrying value of the 
reporting unit’s goodwill over its implied fair value should such a circumstance arise.
 The Company assesses the impairment of definite-lived intangibles similar to long lived assets. The Company’s intangible 
assets with definite lives include purchased technologies, customer relationships, non-compete agreements, deferred financing 
fees and computer software which are amortized over their useful lives. The Company estimates the future undiscounted cash 
flows to be derived from the long-lived assets to assess whether or not a potential impairment exists whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. If the carrying value exceeds the undiscounted cash 
flows to be derived from the asset, the Company would then calculate the impairment as the excess of the Company’s estimate of 
the fair value over the carrying value of the asset. The Company’s estimate of fair value is measured using the following methods:

•	 Purchased	technology	using	the	relief	from	royalty	method,
•	 Customer	relationships	using	the	excess	earnings	approach,	and	
•	 Non-compete	agreements	using	the	probability	adjusted	lost	cash	flow	method.

 In making assessments for impairment the Company relies on a number of factors including operating results, business plans, 
economic projections, anticipated future cash flows, and transactions and marketplace data.
 There were no impairments of intangible assets or goodwill recorded for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010.

Leases 
The Company reviews all leases for capital or operating classification at lease inception. Operations are primarily conducted 
utilizing operating leases. The lease term commences on the date on which the right to control the use of the leased property 
transfers to the Company. 
 Rent expense related to operating leases, where scheduled rent increases and rent holidays exist, is determined by expensing 
the total amount of rent due over the life of the operating lease on a straight-line basis. The difference between the rent paid under 
the terms of the lease and the rent expensed on a straight-line basis is included in other current and non-current liabilities in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Warranties
The Company has a general warranty policy in which it warrants its products against manufacturing defects and workmanship; 
warranties range from thirty days up to one year from the date sold, depending on the type of product. The Company maintains a 
warranty accrual that estimates future warranty claims. In determining the amount of the accrual, the Company considers historical 
levels of claims, warranty terms and the estimated sell-through to the end consumer. Warranty expense is recorded in cost of 
goods sold in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Foreign Currency Translation and Foreign Currency Transactions
The results and financial position of all of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into the Company’s reporting currency, 
the U.S. dollar. Monetary items of foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at each accounting 
period end date. Non-monetary items of foreign operations are translated at their historical exchange rates. The income and expense 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010

items of foreign operations are translated to U.S. dollars at average exchange rates during the period. Gains or losses arising 
from translation of the financial statements of these foreign operations are recorded in foreign currency translation adjustments, 
a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity.
 Transaction gains and losses generated by the effect of foreign exchange on recorded assets and liabilities denominated in a 
currency different from the functional currency of the applicable entity are recorded in foreign exchange gains, net and other in 
the consolidated statements of operations in the period in which they occur.

Derivative Financial Instruments
In the normal course of business, the financial position and results of operations of the Company are impacted by currency rate 
movements in foreign currency denominated assets, liabilities and cash flows as the Company purchases and sells goods in 
local currencies. The Company is also impacted by interest rate movements on its variable interest rate debt. The Company has 
established policies and business practices that are intended to mitigate a portion of the effect of these exposures. The Company 
uses derivative financial instruments, specifically foreign exchange swaps, foreign currency forward contracts, and interest rate 
contracts to manage exposures. All derivatives are recorded at fair value on the balance sheet. The Company has not elected 
hedge accounting and therefore the changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognized in unrealized losses (gains) on 
derivative instruments in the consolidated statements of operations. These derivative instruments are viewed as risk management 
tools and are not used for trading or speculative purposes.

Segments 
The Company follows CICA issued Handbook Section 1701, Segment Disclosures, which establishes standards for the way public 
business enterprises report information about operating segments. The method for determining what information to report is based 
on the way management organizes the segments with the Company for the chief operating decision maker to allocate resources, 
make operating decisions, allocate resources and assess financial performance. The Company has one operating segment. 

Income Taxes 
The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. This approach requires the recognition of future 
tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between the carrying amounts and 
the tax basis of assets and liabilities. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using substantially enacted tax rates expected 
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect 
on future tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. 
Future income taxes are reduced by a valuation allowance if, in the judgment of the Company’s management, it is more likely than 
not that such assets will not be realized.

Business Combinations
In January 2009, the CICA issued section 1582, Business Combinations, which establishes standards for the accounting for 
a business combination. The objective of the new standards is to harmonize Canadian GAAP for business combinations and 
consolidated financial statements with the International and United States accounting standards. The new standards are to be 
applied prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting 
period, commencing January 1, 2011, with earlier application permitted. The Company has adopted the provisions of this guidance 
for business combinations occurring on or after June 1, 2010. As a result of early adopting section 1582, the Company adopted 
sections	1601,	Consolidated	Financial	Statements	and	1602,	Non-Controlling	interest.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
The	CICA	issued	section	3064,	Goodwill	and	Intangible	Assets,	which	established	standards	for	the	recognition,	measurement,	
presentation	and	disclosure	of	intangible	assets.	Section	3064	came	into	effect	for	annual	reporting	periods	beginning	on	or	after	
October	1,	2008,	replacing	section	3062,	Goodwill	and	Other	Intangible	Assets	and	section	3450,	Research	and	Development	
Costs. Adoption of this new standard commencing June 1, 2009 resulted in the reclassification of computer software costs from 
property, plant and equipment to intangible assets.

Announced But Not Effective Pronouncements
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
In February 2008, the CICA announced that Canadian GAAP for publically accountable enterprises is replaced by IFRS for fiscal 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Companies are required to provide IFRS comparative information for the previous 
fiscal year. Accordingly, the conversion from Canadian GAAP to IFRS is applicable to the Company’s reporting for the three months 
ended August 31, 2011 for which current and comparative information will be prepared under IFRS. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010

NOTE 3  ACQUISITION OF MAVERIK LACROSSE LLC

On June 3, 2010, the Company purchased all of the issued and outstanding shares of the capital stock of Maverik Lacrosse LLC 
(“Maverik”), a distributor of lacrosse equipment. The acquisition allows the Company to enter new product categories in a growing 
market.
	 The	total	consideration	was	$13,561,000.	The	acquisition	was	funded	by	additional	borrowings	on	the	revolving	credit	line.	
The Company has completed the valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The allocation of the purchase price to the 
individual assets acquired and liabilities assumed under the purchase method of accounting included in the May 31, 2011 balance 
sheet resulted in $8,900,000 of goodwill of which the entire amount is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. The goodwill 
associated with the transaction was due to management’s conclusion that the acquisition coincided with the Company’s strategy 
of expanding its product offerings to drive revenue growth and expected synergies from combining operations.
 The following table presents the allocation of purchase price related to the business as of the date of the acquisition (in thousands):

Net assets acquired:
Cash  $ 30
Trade	receivables		 	 776
Inventory   454
Property, plant and equipment   45
Intangible assets  4,045 

Total assets acquired  5,350

Current	liabilities		 	 (416)
Non-current liabilities  (273)

Total	liabilities	assumed		 	 (689)

Net	assets	acquired		 $	 4,661

Consideration:
Paid to seller   10,082
Acquisition	consideration	payable		 	 1,465
Acquisition contingent consideration   2,014

Fair	value	of	total	consideration	transferred	 $	 13,561

Goodwill $ 8,900

Transactions costs (included in selling, general and administrative expenses) $ 534

	 In	connection	with	its	acquisition	of	Maverik,	the	Company	agreed	to	pay	additional	consideration	of	$1,465,000	payable	to	the	
sellers in four equal installments during the period 12 months following the closing. The four installments were paid to the sellers 
in the year ended May 31, 2011.
 If Maverik revenue is equal to or greater than $7,000,000 in a twelve-month period beginning on June 1 and ending on May 31, 
in any period 1 to 10 years following the closing, the Company agreed to pay additional contingent consideration of $2,250,000. 
The potential undiscounted amount of the future payment that the company could be required to make under the contingent 
consideration arrangement is between $0 and $2,250,000. The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement of $2,014,000 
was estimated by applying a discounted cash flow model. The amount payable is reflected in other non-current liabilities in the 
consolidated balance sheets. Subsequent adjustments to the fair value are recognized in selling, general and administrative 
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. 
 The amounts of Maverik’s net revenue and net loss included in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations for the 
year	ended	May	31,	2011	was	$4,888,000	and	$2,637,000,	respectively.	
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NOTE 4  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

In	connection	with	the	formation	of	KSGI	on	April	16,	2008,	KSGI	paid	a	transaction	fee	to,	and	entered	into	a	management	services	
agreement with Kohlberg & Company, L.L.C. (“Kohlberg”). Under the agreement Kohlberg provided advisory and management 
services and in consideration of the services provided, the Company paid a management fee of $750,000 per year. Additionally, 
pursuant to an agreement between Kohlberg and KSGI, KSGI paid Kohlberg an aggregate fee equal to $4,000,000 upon completion 
of the Offering in connection with the termination of the management services agreement. The expense recognized for these 
agreements was $4,581,000 and $750,000 for the years ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, respectively. The expense is 
included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
 KSGI entered into agreements for consulting services with certain members of its board of directors who are not employees of 
KGSI. The term of the agreements was 10 years. The agreements provided that KGSI may terminate the consulting services, without 
cause, at any time upon notice to the consultant. In the event of such termination, KGSI would continue to pay the consultant for a 
period of twelve (12) months following such termination in monthly installments. Upon completion of the Offering, these consulting 
agreements were terminated. In connection with the termination of the consulting agreements the Company paid a bonus of 
$268,000.	Expense	recognized	related	to	these	agreements	was	$597,000	and	$644,000	for	the	years	ended	May	31,	2011	and	
2010, respectively. The expense is included in selling, general and administrative expenses.
 On March 10, 2011, Bauer entered into an agreement with a member of the Board of Directors who is not an employee of the 
Company.	Under	the	agreement,	the	board	member	receives	$65,000	per	year	for	providing	consulting	services	to	the	Company	
in connection with business planning and strategy. The term of the agreement is until the next annual meeting of the shareholders 
of Bauer and may renew on an annual basis upon the shareholders’ re-election of the board member as a director of Bauer. 
Expense recognized for this agreement was $14,000 for the year ended May 31, 2011. The expense is included in selling, general 
and administrative expenses.
 Certain members of the Board of Directors who are not employees participate in the Company’s stock option plans. Refer to 
Note 17 – Share Capital. Expense recognized related to these members of the Board of Directors for the years ended May 31, 2011 
and	2010	was	$65,000	and	$84,000,	respectively.	The	expense	is	included	in	selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses.	

NOTE 5  ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE, NET 

Accounts receivable includes the following (in thousands):
  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Trade receivables  $ 85,033	 $	 71,196
Other receivables   7,488  5,418
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts   (2,042)  (2,283)
Less: Allowance for returns and discounts   (1,661)  (2,259)

Accounts receivable, net $ 88,818 $ 72,072

 Other receivables at May 31, 2011 and 2010 includes the current portion of a receivable in the amount of $2,482,000 and 
$1,948,000, respectively, from a supplier for costs incurred related to a product recall. The long-term portion of this receivable at 
May	31,	2011	and	2010	was	$569,000	and	$2,253,000,	respectively,	and	is	reflected	in	Other	non-current	assets	in	the	consolidated	
balance sheets as of May 31, 2011 and 2010. Refer to Note 12 – Accrued Liabilities for a description of the product recall.

NOTE 6  INVENTORIES, NET

Inventories include the following (in thousands):
  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Raw materials  $ 800 $ 795
Work in process   77  81
Finished goods  91,231  53,519

   92,108  54,395
Less: inventory reserve   (906)  (1,984)

Inventories, net $ 91,202 $ 52,411
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NOTE 7  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant and equipment include the following (in thousands):
  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Machinery and equipment   $  5,246  $  4,050
Data processing equipment    1,347   750
Furniture and fixtures   2,253   1,445
Leasehold improvements and capitalized leased assets   3,822 		 	 2,662
Construction in process   1,270   320

   13,938    9,227
Less: accumulated depreciation 
 Machinery and equipment  $  (3,044)  $  (2,022)
 Data processing equipment   (911)    (477) 
 Furniture and fixtures    (863)  	 	 (641)
 Leasehold improvements and capitalized leased assets   (2,071) 	 	 (1,536)

   (6,889) 		 	 (4,676)

Property, plant and equipment, net   $  7,049  $  4,551

Depreciation	expense	for	the	years	ended	May	31,	2011	and	2010	was	$2,346,000,	and	$2,422,000,	respectively.

NOTE 8  INCOME TAXES

The reconciliation of the income tax expense expected based on the combined Canadian federal and provincial income tax rates 
to the expense for income taxes included in the consolidated statements of operations is as follows (in thousands):

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Combined basic Canadian federal and provincial income tax rate   29.7% 	 	 31.6%

Provision for income taxes based on above rate $ 231 $ 1,988 
Foreign tax rate differences  347  572 
Stock-based compensation  266   135
Change in valuation allowance  276   –
Change in enacted rates  236   314
Return to provision  (642)  371
Other   (336)  508

Income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations $ 378 $ 3,888

 The expense for income taxes consists of the following (in thousands):

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Current  $ 394	 $	 866
Future   (16)  3,022

Total income tax expense $ 378 $ 3,888
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 The tax effect of temporary differences, which give rise to future income tax assets, consists of the following (in thousands):

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Allowance for doubtful accounts  $ 1,330 $ 1,712
Inventory, net   1,654  1,301
Accrued expenses and reserves  2,807  2,298

 Current future income tax assets $ 5,791 $ 5,311

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 35,744	 $	 34,026
Equity compensation and retirement plans   3,294  2,124
Property, plant and equipment   (1,023)  513
Intangible assets   626  1,701
Stock issuance costs   2,404  –
Investment tax credit carryforwards   1,909  881
Other  (582)  (1,138)

 Long-term future income tax assets   42,372  38,107
Valuation allowance  (22,169)  (19,400)

 Long-term future income tax assets   20,203  18,707

Total future income tax assets $ 25,994 $ 24,018

	 As	of	May	31,	2011	and	May	31,	2010,	the	Company	has	non-capital	loss	carryforwards	in	the	United	States	of	$58,461,000	
and $57,059,000 respectively. In connection with the acquisition of Mission Itech Hockey, Inc. (“Mission”), the Company acquired 
approximately $57,059,000 of U.S. non-capital loss carryforwards, although none may be used to offset future taxable income 
of the Company under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code due to ownership changes that have occurred. Accordingly, the 
Company has provided a full valuation allowance on the non-capital loss carryforwards. The remaining $1,402,000 is realizable 
and will begin to expire in 2031. As of May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 the Company has Canadian non-capital loss carryforwards 
of	$57,125,000	and	$52,625,000	respectively.	Included	in	these	non-capital	loss	carryforwards	are	$400,000	and	$0	related	
to amortization of stock issuance costs which the Company does not expect to be realizable and has recorded a full valuation 
allowance	against.	The	remaining	$56,725,000	and	$52,625,000	are	realizable	and	will	begin	to	expire	in	2028.	
 As of May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010, the Company has intangible assets (net of amortization) exclusive of computer software 
and	deferred	financing	costs	in	the	U.S.	of	$32,416,000	and	$24,892,000	respectively	that	are	amortizable	for	income	tax	purposes.	
These U.S. intangible assets are amortizable for income tax purposes on a straight line basis over 15 years. As of May 31, 2011 
and May 31, 2010 the Company has intangible assets (net of amortization) exclusive of computer software and deferred financing 
fees	in	Canada	of	$44,635,000	and	$43,750,000,	respectively,	that	is	amortizable	for	income	tax	purposes.	Under	Canadian	tax	
law 75% of the Canadian tax intangible assets are amortizable for income tax purposes at a rate of 7% per year.   
	 As	of	May	31,	2011	and	May	31,	2010,	the	Company	has	stock	issuance	costs	in	Canada	of	$9,196,000	related	to	the	initial	
public offering. Under Canadian tax law, these costs are amortizable over a five year period, for financial reporting purposes, these 
costs reduce contributed surplus. Once fully amortized, these costs will become non-capital loss carryforwards which will begin 
to	expire	between	2031	and	2036.	The	Company	does	not	expect	these	to	be	fully	realizable	and	has	provided	a	full	valuation	
allowance against these stock issuance costs.
 The Company has increased its valuation allowance by $2,498,000 for amounts that were charged to contributed surplus in 
connection with the stock issuance costs.
 The Company’s subsidiary, KSGI, is subject to examination in various jurisdictions for the tax years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010. 
However, as a condition of the stock purchase agreement with NIKE Inc. in April 2008, the Company is indemnified by NIKE Inc. for 
any tax exposures related to the pre-acquisition period. The Company’s acquired Mission entities are also subject to examination 
in periods prior to the acquisition; however, as a condition to the stock purchase agreement with the Mission stockholders, the 
Company is indemnified for any tax exposures related to the pre-acquisition period for Mission and its subsidiaries.
 The Company has recognized a future income tax liability for the undistributed earnings of two of its subsidiaries in the current 
or prior years for the earnings it expects to repatriate. The Company has not recognized a future income tax liability for the 
undistributed earnings of its other subsidiaries because the Company currently does not expect to sell those investments, and for 
those undistributed earnings that would become taxable, there is no current intention to repatriate the earnings. 
 Interest and penalties related to income tax for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 amounting to $500 and $500 respectively, 
were recognized in foreign exchange gains, net and other in the consolidated statements of operations.
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NOTE 9  INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 

Intangible assets with indefinite lives consist of trade names and trademarks. Intangible assets with estimated useful lives include 
purchased technology, customer relationships, favorable lease positions, non-compete agreements, deferred financing costs and 
computer software. The favorable lease positions reflect the difference between market and contract rent.
 Intangible assets include the following (in thousands):
  Weighted-average
  amortization period   May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Trade names and trademarks  Indefinite   $  59,522  $  53,240
Purchased technology   13 years    9,321    8,798
Customer relationships  10 years    14,379    13,094
Leases   4 years    2,722    2,599
Non-compete agreements   5 years    505    –
Deferred financing costs  5 years    3,797    3,087
Computer	software		 6	years			 	 4,834    3,292

Total    $  95,080   $  84,110

Less: accumulated amortization 
 Purchased technology   (1,836)  (1,033)
 Customer relationships   (8,634)	 	 (6,254)
 Leases   (2,295)  (1,498)
 Non-compete agreements  (101)  –
 Deferred financing costs  (169)  (1,277)
 Computer software  (1,680)	 	 (1,036)

 Total accumulated amortization  (14,715)  (11,098)

Total intangible assets  $ 80,365 $ 73,012

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Goodwill   $ 8,900 $ –
Less: accumulated impairment  $ – $ –

Total goodwill  $ 8,900 $ –

 During the year ended May 31, 2011, the Company acquired definite-lived intangible assets of $945,000 and indefinite-lived 
intangible assets of $3,100,000 as part of the Maverik acquisition (refer to Note 3 – Acquisition of Maverik Lacrosse LLC). Also as 
a result of the Maverik acquisition, the Company acquired $8,900,000 of goodwill.
 During the year ended May 31, 2010, the Company acquired trademarks and purchased technology from Jock Plus Hockey Inc. 
and Kloz, Inc. for a combined purchase price of $3,400,000, plus acquisition fees. The purchase price of the assets is allocated to 
the purchased technology acquired. The fair value of the trademarks acquired was determined to be zero, and as such, no value 
was assigned to these assets. 
	 Amortization	expense	for	intangible	assets	for	the	years	ended	May	31,	2011	and	2010	was	$4,647,000	and	$4,809,000,	
respectively. Amortization expense is included in cost of goods sold, and selling, general and administrative expenses and foreign 
exchange gains, net and other. 
 As of May 31, 2011, the estimated future amortization expense for intangible assets for the next five years and thereafter is as 
follows (in thousands):

2012     $  4,150
2013       3,541
2014      3,133
2015			 	 	 	 2,600
2016			 	 	 	 2,228
Thereafter      5,192

Total     $ 20,844
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NOTE 10  OTHER ASSETS 

Other assets consist of current and non-current other assets and include the following (in thousands):

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Prepaid advertising and promotion  $ 885	 $	 694
Prepaid insurance  112  140 
Fair value of derivative contracts (Notes 22 and 23)  –	 	 1,627	
Prepaid other  1,040  1,343 

Total other current assets $ 2,037 $ 3,804

Fair value of derivative contracts (Notes 22 and 23)  –  1,841 
Other   1,821  3,332

Total non-current assets $ 1,821 $ 5,173

 The fair value of derivative contracts consisted primarily of a foreign exchange swap agreement entered into to reduce the 
foreign exchange risk associated with the U.S. dollar denominated senior subordinated promissory notes. Refer to Note 23 – Risk.
 Included in other non-current assets is a receivable from a supplier for costs incurred related to a product recall. The current and 
long-term	receivable	totaled	$2,482,000	and	$569,000,	respectively	at	May	31,	2011	and	$1,948,000	and	$2,253,000,	respectively,	
at May 31, 2010. Refer to Note 12 – Accrued Liabilities for a description of the product recall.

NOTE 11  DEBT 

Debt includes the following (in thousands):

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Revolving credit line  $ 56,410 $ 27,594
Term	loan	due	2016		 	 97,792  –
Term loan due 2013   –	 	 30,916
14.25% Senior subordinated promissory notes, due 2013   –  52,425

Total long-term debt  154,202  110,935
Less: current portion of revolving credit line   (21,410)  (19,023)
Less: current portion of long-term debt   (6,989)	 	 (4,876)
Less: financing costs  (2,142)  (2,491)

Long-term debt, net of current portion $ 123,661 $ 84,545

 Annual maturities of long-term debt for the fiscal years after May 31, 2011 are as follows (in thousands):

2012  $ 28,399
2013   7,475
2014   7,475
2015   7,475
2016		 	 103.378

Total $ 154,202
 
New Credit Facility
On March 10, 2011, the material operating subsidiaries of the Company, being Bauer Hockey Corp. and Bauer Hockey, Inc., entered 
into an amended and restated senior secured credit facility with a syndicate of financial institutions (the “New Credit Facility”). In 
connection with the New Credit Facility, the Company incurred $4,523,000 in fees. The New Credit Facility was used to, among 
other	things,	redeem	and	cancel	the	Old	Notes	(described	below),	including	$610,000	in	prepayment	penalties	related	to	the	Old	
Notes. In addition, the Company wrote-off unamortized deferred financing costs of $2,220,000 related to the credit facilities which 
were terminated.  The total loss on early extinguishment of debt in the year ended May 31, 2011 was $2,830,000.
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  The New Credit Facility is comprised of a (i) $100.0 million term loan facility (the “Term Loan”) and (ii) $100.0 million Revolving 
Loan (the “Revolving Loan”). The Term Loan and the Revolving Loan are denominated in both Canadian dollars and U.S. dollars, 
the availability of which is subject to meeting certain borrowing base requirements. The Revolving Loan includes a $20.0 million 
letter of credit subfacility and a $10.0 million swing line loan subfacility. In addition, the Borrowers may, under certain circumstances 
and subject to receipt of additional commitments from existing lenders and/or new lenders, increase the size of the New Credit 
Facility	in	an	aggregate	amount	of	up	to	$30.0	million.	The	Term	Loan	and	the	Revolving	Loan	each	mature	on	March	10,	2016.
 The interest rates per annum applicable to the loans under the New Credit Facility, equal an applicable margin percentage, 
plus, at the Borrowers’ option depending on the currency of borrowing, (1) the U.S. base rate/Canadian Base rate or (2) LIBOR/
Bankers Acceptance rate. The applicable margin percentages will be subject to adjustment based upon the ratio of the total debt 
to EBITDA (as defined under the New Credit Facility) as follows:

Total Debt to Adjusted EBITDA Base Rate/Canadian Base Rate LIBOR/BA Rate

Equal to or greater than 2.5x 2.25% 3.50%
Equal to or greater than 2.0x but less than 2.5x 2.00% 3.25%
Less than 2.0x 1.75% 3.00%

 Additionally, on the last day of each calendar quarter, the Borrowers will pay a commitment fee in an amount equal to 0.5% per 
annum on the average unused daily balance (less any outstanding letters of credit). 
 Beginning with a first installment on May 31, 2011, the New Credit Facility will require scheduled quarterly payments in the 
amount of 7.5% of the Term Loan per annum for each of years one to four. In year five, payments shall consist of three quarterly 
payments of 1.875% of the original principal amount and a fourth and final payment of the entire remaining unpaid balance then 
outstanding	due	on	maturity,	being	64.375%	of	the	loan.	For	a	period	of	30	consecutive	days	between	January	15	and	March	15	of	
each year, the Borrowers cannot have advances under the Revolving Loan outstanding in a maximum aggregate principal amount 
exceeding $35,000,000.
 The New Credit Facility includes covenants that require the Company to maintain a minimum fixed charge ratio, a minimum 
leverage ratio and maximum capital expenditures. As of May 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with the covenants required 
under the New Credit Facility.
 The interest rate on the New Credit Facility for the period ended May 31, 2011 was 3.72% to 5.50%. The Company had 
$38,054,000 of available credit line available at May 31, 2011. At May 31, 2011 there are three letters of credit in the amount of 
$1,595,000 outstanding under the revolving credit line.

Old Facility
At May 31, 2010 and up to March 10, 2011, KGSI maintained a $142.0 million credit facility (the “Old Facility”) with General Electric 
Capital Corporation, GE Canada Finance Holding Company and certain other financial institutions (collectively, the “Old Lenders”). 
The Old Facility was comprised of a $52.0 million variable interest rate term loan and $90.0 million revolving credit line. To fund 
the acquisition of Maverik, refer to Note 3 – Acquisition of Maverik Lacrosse, LLC, the Old Facility was amended on June 3, 2010. 
Under the terms of the original agreement, the balance of the revolving credit line must be paid down to $9,000,000 Canadian 
dollars for a period of 30 consecutive days between the period January 15 and March 15 each year. The fourth amendment to the 
credit agreement increases the balance to $15,000,000 Canadian dollars. A consent document was executed on February 9, 2011 
that increased the balance to $25,000,000 Canadian dollars.
	 The	term	loan	had	scheduled	quarterly	repayments	and	a	maturity	of	April	16,	2013.	At	May	31,	2010,	these	payment	amounts	
are included in the short-term portion of long-term debt. Additional mandatory principal payments, other than for reason of a default 
event, were also required if there is a change in control or if the Company yields excess cash flow as defined in the Old Facility. 
There were no mandatory principal payments as a result of the Old Facility’s excess cash flow provision, for the years ended May 
31, 2011 and May 31, 2010. The interest rate is equal to the Bankers’ Acceptance rate or Canadian base rate plus the applicable 
margin for each rate. The margin is 3.25% or 4.50% depending on the type of rate obtained. The interest rate for the years ended 
May	31,	2011	and	2010	ranged	from	5.23%	to	6.25%	and	4.93%	to	5.50%,	respectively.
	 The	interest	rate	on	the	revolving	credit	line	for	the	period	ended	May	31,	2011	and	2010	ranged	from	4.75%	to	6.50%	and	
4.73%	to	6.50%,	respectively.	The	Company	had	$40,381,000	of	available	credit	line	available	at	May	31,	2010.	At	May	31,	2010,	
there was one letter of credit in the amount of $350,000 Canadian dollars outstanding under the revolving credit line. 
 The Old Facility was amended and restated on March 10, 2011 as described above under New Credit Facility.



58   BAUER PERFORMANCE SPORTS  2011 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010

 At May 31, 2010, KGSI’s operating subsidiaries had issued senior subordinated promissory notes (the “Old Notes”) in the 
aggregate principal amount of $52.0 million. The Old Notes were cancelled and redeemed on March 10, 2011 as described above 
under New Credit Facility. A foreign exchange swap agreement was entered into at the time the Old Notes were issued to reduce 
the	foreign	exchange	risk	associated	with	the	U.S.	dollar	denominated	notes.	On	March	16,	2011,	the	foreign	exchange	swap	
agreement was terminated prior to its maturity. This resulted in a realized settlement loss of $800,000 Canadian dollars which is 
included in realized losses on derivative instruments in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended May 31, 2011. 
Refer to Note 23 – Risk for more details.
 The Old Notes had a fixed interest rate of 14.25%. The interest rate is comprised of basic interest of 12.00% due in cash each 
quarter and 2.25% that the Company, at its discretion, can recapitalize into the notes. The Company elected to recapitalize the 
2.25% interest for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010. The amount of the recapitalization is $915,000 and $1,171,000 for the 
years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. 
 The Old Facility and Old Notes agreements included covenants that require KSGI to maintain a minimum fixed charge ratio, a 
minimum leverage ratio and maximum capital expenditure ratios. KSGI was in compliance with these covenants as of May 31, 2010.

NOTE 12  ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

Accrued liabilities include the following (in thousands):
  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Compensation and benefits, excluding taxes  $ 10,619	 $	 7,596
Fair value of foreign currency forward contracts (Notes 22 and 23)   7,372  535
Accrued advertising and volume rebates   5,392	 	 3,667
Product warranty costs (Note 13)   638  2,007
Product recall   30  3,118
Interest   182		 	 1,456
Customer credit balances  2,176   812
Other   5,661   5,703

Total accrued liabilities $ 32,070 $ 24,894
 
	 On	March	16,	2010,	the	Company	announced	a	voluntary	product	recall	of	certain	junior	and	youth	composite	sticks	manufactured	
by	a	supplier.	The	affected	composite	sticks	were	manufactured	during	the	period	May	24,	2006	to	January	21,	2010.	This	recall	has	
not had a material impact on the Company’s results of operations, as the Company was indemnified by the supplier of the composite 
sticks. The product recall accrued liability represents the Company’s current estimate of costs incurred as of May 31, 2011 and May 
31, 2010 respectively net of payments made including those from a third party recall service provider, as well as future claims by 
consumers and customers. The current and long-term receivable recorded in accordance with the terms of a settlement and release 
agreement	between	the	Company	and	the	supplier	totaled	$2,482,000	and	$569,000,	respectively,	at	May	31,	2011	and	$1,948,000	
and $2,253,000, respectively at May 31, 2010. Refer to Note 5 – Accounts Receivable, net and Note 10 – Other Assets.

NOTE 13  PRODUCT WARRANTY COSTS

Changes in the carrying amount of accrued product warranty costs are summarized as follows (in thousands): 

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Beginning balance $ 2,007 $ 2,323 
Warranty costs incurred  (4,064)  (3,392) 
Product warranty accrual   2,414  2,923
Exchange rate loss   281  153

Ending balance  $ 638 $ 2,007
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NOTE 14  BENEFIT PLANS

Defined benefit plans
The Company’s benefit plans include supplemental unfunded pension plans in both Canada and the United States. The net actuarial 
asset or liability is reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The Company uses the corridor approach to recognize actuarial 
gains and losses in earnings. 10% of the benefit obligation is deducted from the unamortized net actuarial gains or losses on a 
market-related value basis. Additionally, the Company pays all the costs of the post-retirement life insurance plan which is available 
to most Canadian employees. The plan is not funded.
 The following table provides the benefit plan liabilities (in thousands):

   Post-Retirement Life
  Supplemental Pension Plan Insurance Plan Total Benefit Plan Liabilities

  May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010 May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010 May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010

Current $ 380 $ 349 $ – $ – $ 380 $ 349
Non-current  4,570  4,441  427  249  4,996	 	 4,690

Total $ 4,950 $ 4,790 $ 427 $ 249 $ 5,376 $ 5,039

 The following table provides the change in projected benefit obligation of the supplemental pension plans (in thousands):

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Change in projected benefit obligation: 
Beginning balance  $ 4,790	 $	 4,605
Interest cost   268  285
Benefits paid  (370)  (340)
Exchange rate loss   262  240

Ending balance $ 4,950 $ 4,790

	 The	net	periodic	pension	cost	for	the	years	ended	May	31,	2011	and	2010	was	$268,000	and	$285,000,	respectively,	consisting	
of interest costs.
 The following table provides the discount rate actuarial assumptions used for the supplemental pension plans:

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Canadian Plan 
Net periodic benefit cost  5.50% 7.25%
Projected benefit obligation 5.10% 5.50%

U.S. Plan 
Net periodic benefit cost  5.30%	 6.50%
Projected benefit obligation 4.70% 5.30%

 Benefits expected to be paid, which reflect expected future service as appropriate, in each of the next fiscal years ending May 31, 
are as follows (in thousands):

2012 $ 380
2013  380
2014  397
2015	 	 396
2016	 	 404
Thereafter  2,053

Total $ 4,010
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Defined contribution plans
The Company has two defined contribution pension plans. A defined contribution Registered Retirement Savings Plan (“RRSP”) 
which is available to most Canadian employees and a defined contribution 401(k) plan that covers all employees in the United 
States. The terms of the defined contribution Registered Retirement Savings Plan (“RRSP”) provides for annual contributions by 
the Company as determined by executive management. Contributions to the plan for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 were 
$193,000, and $40,000, respectively. The contributions are included in cost of goods sold and selling, general and administrative 
expenses. 
 Employees are eligible to participate in the defined contribution 401(k) plan immediately upon hire, there is no service requirement. 
The plan provides for matching contributions in an amount equal to 100% of the first 4% contributed by the employee to the plan. 
Matching contributions to the plan were $149,000 for the year ended May 31, 2011. Matching contributions to the plan were 
suspended by the Company for the year ended May 31, 2010 and the six month period ended December 31, 2010. The contributions 
are included in selling, general and administrative expenses.

NOTE 15  OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Other non-current liabilities at May 31, 2011 consist primarily of $2,125,000 of unrealized losses on forward currency contracts 
and $2,118,000 of deferred consideration relating to the Maverik acquisition. At May 31, 2010, other non-current liabilities primarily 
consist of unfavorable lease obligations in connection with the acquisition of Mission.

NOTE 16  OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Other comprehensive loss consists of the following (in thousands):

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Beginning balance  $ (5,865)	 $	 (7,964)
Foreign currency translation adjustments   1,764  2,099

Ending balance $ (4,101)	 $	 (5,865)

 
NOTE 17  SHARE CAPITAL

The Company’s share capital was reorganized as a result of the Reorganization and Initial Public Offering. Refer to Note 1 – Basis 
of Presentation for a detailed description.

Authorized Share Capital
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares without par value and an unlimited 
number of Proportionate Voting Shares. 
 Common Shares may at any time, at the option of the holder, be converted into Proportionate Voting Shares on the basis of 
1,000 common shares for one Proportionate Voting Share. Each outstanding Proportionate Voting Share may at any time, at the 
option of the holder, be converted into 1,000 Common Shares. Except in limited circumstances, no fractional equity share will be 
issued on any conversion of another equity share. For all matters coming before shareholders, the common shares carry one vote 
per share and the proportionate voting shares carry 1,000 votes per share.
 Immediately at the time on or after July 1, 2011 that none of the initial holders of Proportionate Voting Shares and their affiliates 
beneficially owns, controls or directs, directly or indirectly, any Proportionate Voting Shares: all issued and outstanding Proportionate 
Voting Shares will automatically convert into Common Shares on a one to 1,000 basis; the right of holders of Common Shares 
to convert their Common Shares into shares of Proportionate Voting Shares will be terminated; and all authorized and unissued 
Proportionate Voting Shares shall automatically convert into authorized and unissued Common Shares on a one to 1,000 basis; 
and the Board of Directors shall not be entitled to thereafter issue any Proportionate Voting Shares. 
 The holders of common shares and proportionate voting shares are entitled to receive notice of any meeting of shareholders 
of the Company and to attend and vote at those meetings, except those meetings at which holders of a specific class of shares 
are entitled to vote separately as a class under the British Columbia Business Corporations Act.
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Issued and outstanding shares
The Company’s issued and outstanding shares are detailed in the table below (in thousands except share amounts): 

   Number of Units  Amount

  Before After Before After
  Reorganization Reorganization Reorganization Reorganization
  Common Shares Common Shares Common Shares Common Shares

Balance	at	May	31,	2009	and	May	31,	2010	 108,069,808	 –	 $	 107,730	 $	 –
Restatement of KSGI common shares (1)		 (108,069,808)	 30,046,115	 	 (107,730)	 	 107,730
KSGI common shares 
	 exchanged	for	Bauer	common	shares		 	 (30,046,115)	 	 	 	 (107,730)
Initial public offering  11,440,115    41,018
Issuance of common shares (2)		 	 18,606,000	 	 	 	 66,712

Balance	at	May	31,	2011	 –	 30,046,115	 $	 –	 $	 107,730

(1)  Number of common shares represents KSGI shares issued and outstanding and reflects an exchange ratio of 0.278 Bauer shares issued for each 
KSGI common share acquired. Refer to Note 1-Basis of Presentation for details on Reorganization and Initial Public Offering. 

(2)  Number of Common Shares included in this column assumes the conversion of all Proportionate Voting Shares to Common Shares on the basis of 
1,000 Common Shares for one Proportionate Voting Share. 

Stock-based compensation
Each of the Company’s stock options plans are described in detail below. The Company estimates the fair value of its stock options 
awards on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Compensation cost is recognized over the vesting 
period based on the number of options expected to vest using the graded vesting method. The Company recognized share-based 
compensation for its stock option plans in selling, general and administrative expense as follows (in thousands): 

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Equity Incentive Plan  $ 586 $ 1,147
Rollover Plan   546  –
2011 Plan   387  –

Total share-based compensation expense $ 1,519 $ 1,147
 
	 The	total	recognized	tax	benefit	as	of	May	31,	2011	and	2010	was	$1,556,000	and	$476,000,	respectively.	The	total	fair	value	of	
the shares vested for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010 was $2,355,000 and $951,000, respectively.

Equity Incentive Plan
On	April	16,	2008,	KSGI	adopted	an	Equity	Incentive	Plan	(the	“Predecessor	Plan”).	The	Predecessor	Plan	provided	for	the	award	
of share options to Executive officers, directors, consultants and other employees. The award entitles participants the right to 
purchase shares of the Company at specified prices. The exercise price per share of each share option is 100% of the fair market 
value of a share, determined as of the date of grant, or such higher amount as the Board of Directors determines. A total of 
20,000,000 shares of stock were authorized for issuance under the Predecessor Plan. The options expire ten years from the date 
of grant. Except for 5,350,000 shares, the options vest one-fourth each year, are subject to accelerated vesting upon change of 
control, are not exercisable until and upon a change in control (as defined), initial public offering, voluntary resignation, termination 
other than for cause or death.
 Options to purchase 5,350,000 shares with a weighted average remaining contractual life of 7.88 years were exercisable under 
the	Predecessor	Plan	as	of	May	31,	2010.	There	were	1,680,000	shares	available	for	future	grants	as	of	May	31,	2010,	of	which	
95,000 were issued during the year ended May 31, 2011. All of the 18,415,000 shares outstanding (“predecessor options”) under 
the Predecessor Plan at March 10, 2011 were exchanged for fully vested and exercisable rollover options issued under the Rollover 
Plan described below. There are no options remaining under the Predecessor Plan at May 31, 2011.



62   BAUER PERFORMANCE SPORTS  2011 ANNUAL REPORT

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010

 The assumptions used for options granted and the fair value at the date of grant is noted in the following table:

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Weighted average expected term (in years)    5.1    5.1 
Weighted average expected volatility   37.06%   35.30% 
Weighted average risk-free interest rate   1.66%   2.51%
Expected dividend yield    0%   0%
Weighted average fair value per option granted  $ 0.48  $ 0.29

 The expected term of 5.1 years is based on an analysis of the average holding period of similar private equity investments. 
Expected volatility is based on an average volatility of comparable public companies. The risk-free interest rate is based on the 
U.S. Treasury yield curve corresponding to the stock option’s expected term. The expected dividend yield is 0% as dividends are 
not expected to be paid during the expected term. To establish the fair market value of the common stock, a combination of the 
market approach and income approach (discounted cash flows) was used for the year ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.
 Information concerning the Predecessor Plan stock option activity for the year ended May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 is 
summarized as follows:
  Year ended May 31, 2011 Year ended May 31, 2010

   Weighted-Average  Weighted-Average
  Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price

Beginning of the period  18,320,000 $ 1.20 17,720,000 $ 1.18
Granted  95,000   1.35	 625,000	 	 1.80
Exercised  –  – –  –
Forfeited  –  – (25,000)  1.00
Exchanged for options under the Rollover Plan (18,415,000)   1.20 –  –

Outstanding at end of period – $  –  18,320,000  $ 1.20 

Vested –   10,872,500  $ 1.30 

Exercisable at end of period –	 	 	 5,350,000		 $	 1.60	

Options available for grants –	 	 	 1,680,000		 	

Options vested and expected to vest –   18,200,250 $ 1.20

 As of May 31, 2011, there is no unrecognized cost for the Predecessor Plan.

Rollover Plan
In connection with the Offering and Acquisition, vesting of all predecessor options was accelerated. The acceleration expense for 
the	year	ended	May	31,	2011	was	$546,000	and	is	included	in	selling,	general	and	administrative	expenses.	Also,	in	conjunction	
with the Offering, Bauer assumed the Predecessor Plan (as modified, the “Rollover Plan”) and all fully vested predecessor options 
outstanding were exchanged for fully vested and exercisable options (the “rollover options”) to purchase common shares of Bauer 
such that the fair market value of the rollover options (determined as the “spread” or excess of the fair market value of a common 
share over the exercise price of the rollover option) is no greater than the fair market value of the predecessor options so exchanged 
(determined as the spread between the fair market value of an ordinary share of Bauer over the predecessor option exercise price). 
The exchange of options was completed in consideration of existing provisions in the Predecessor Plan. The terms of the Rollover 
Plan are substantially similar to the terms of the 2011 Plan detailed below, except that all rollover options are fully vested and no 
further options may be granted under the Rollover Plan. This resulted in an aggregate of 5,119,815 rollover options being issued 
and remaining outstanding at May 31, 2011. 
 In connection with the closing of the Offering, management shareholders entered into lock-up agreements with the Company 
(“Management Lock-up Agreements”). Under the terms of the Management Lock-up Agreements, subject to certain exemptions, 
common shares, including any common shares issuable pursuant to the exercise of rollover options beneficially owned by 
management shareholders, other than Common Shares purchased on or following the Closing or Common Shares issued pursuant 
to options granted under the 2011 Plan, are subject to a restriction on transfer for a period of 24 months following the closing.
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 Information concerning stock option activity under the Rollover Plan for the year ended May 31, 2011 is summarized as follows:

    Weighted-Average
   Weighted-Average Remaining
   Exercise Price Contractual Term
  Options (Canadian dollars) (years)

Beginning of the period  – $ –
Exchanged for options under the Predecessor Plan  5,119,815 $ 4.20
Granted –
Exercised  –  –
Forfeited  –  –

Outstanding and exercisable at end of period 5,119,815 $ 4.20  7.01

 As of May 31, 2011, there is no unrecognized cost for the Rollover Plan.

2011 Plan
The 2011 Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors on March 10, 2011. The plan provides for the award of share options to 
the Company’s employees, officers and directors. The maximum aggregate number of common shares which may be subject 
to options under the 2011 Plan and any other proposed or established share compensation arrangement of the Company (other 
than the Rollover Plan) is 12% of the Company’s common shares outstanding from time to time (assuming the conversion of all 
proportionate voting shares to common shares on the basis of 1,000 common shares for one proportionate voting share). On this 
basis,	at	May	31,	2011,	the	maximum	number	of	common	shares	available	under	the	2011	Plan	was	3,605,534.
 The exercise price per share of each share option shall be fixed by the Board of Directors and shall not be less than the market 
value of the common shares at the time of the grant. The options expire ten years from the date of grant, vest one-fourth each year 
at each anniversary of the date of the grant and are subject to accelerated vesting upon change of control.
 The assumptions used for options granted and the fair value at the date of grant for the year ended May 31, 2011 is noted in the 
following table:  

Weighted average expected term (in years)  10
Weighted	average	expected	volatility		 34.60%
Weighted average risk-free interest rate  3.27%
Expected dividend yield 0%
Weighted average fair value per option granted (Canadian dollars)  $ 3.83

 As the Company does not have a history of option exercises, the expected term is based on the contractual life of ten years. 
Expected volatility is based on an average volatility of comparable public companies. The risk-free interest rate is based on the 
Canadian Treasury Bill yield curve corresponding to the stock option’s expected term. The expected dividend yield is 0% as 
dividends are not expected to be paid during the expected term. To establish the fair market value of the common stock, the 
Company used the offering price.
 Information concerning stock option activity under the 2011 Plan for the year ended May 31, 2011 is summarized as follows:

    Weighted-Average
   Weighted-Average Remaining
   Exercise Price Contractual Term
  Options (Canadian dollars) (years)

Beginning of the period  – $ –
Granted 904,500  7.50
Exercised  –  –
Forfeited  –  –

Outstanding at end of period 904,500 $ 7.50  9.78

Exercisable at end of period – $ –  –
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 Information concerning the non-vested shares as of May 31, 2011, and changes during the year ended May 31, 2011, is 
summarized as follows:
    Weighted-Average
    Grant-Date
    Fair Value
   Shares (Canadian dollars)

Balance at June 1, 2010   –  $ –
Granted    904,500   3.83
Vested    –  –
Forfeited    –  –

Balance at May 31, 2011   904,500 $ 3.83

 As of May 31, 2011 there was $3,172,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested awards granted under the 
2011	Plan	which	is	expected	to	be	recognized	as	compensation	expense	in	the	amounts	of	$1,668,000,	$871,000,	$457,000,	and	
$176,000	for	the	years	ended	May	31,	2012,	2013,	2014,	and	2015,	respectively.	The	total	unrecognized	compensation	cost	related	
to non-vested awards granted under the 2011 Plan is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.73 years.

NOTE 18  EARNINGS PER SHARE

The computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share follows:

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011(2) May 31, 2010(1)

Weighted average common shares outstanding   30,046,115	 	30,046,115
Assumed conversion of dilutive stock options and awards   1,360,503	 	 490,264

Diluted weighted average common shares outstanding  31,406,618	 	30,536,379

Basic and diluted earnings per common share $ 0.01 $ 0.08

(1) Restated to reflect Reorganization and Initial Public Offering. Refer to Note 1 -Basis of Presentation and Note -17 Share Capital for more details.
(2) Reflects a conversion of proportionate voting shares to common shares at the conversion ratio of 1,000 common shares to 1 proportionate voting 

share.

	 Options	to	purchase	an	additional	1,638,484	and	733,984	shares	of	common	stock	were	outstanding	for	the	year	end	May	31,	
2011 and 2010, respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per share because the options were 
anti−dilutive. 

NOTE 19  RESTRUCTURING AND RELATED COSTS

The Company incurred net restructuring and related charges of $145,000 and $149,000 in the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, 
respectively. The charges are included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Year ended May 31, 2011 restructuring
The Company announced plans on August 3, 2010 to close the Greenland, New Hampshire distribution center. The restructuring 
was completed by May 31, 2011 and all of the restructuring costs were paid as of May 31, 2011.

Year ended May 31, 2010 and prior restructuring
Beginning in the year ended May 31, 2009 the Company launched several restructuring initiatives:
•	 In	connection	with	the	Mission	acquisition,	the	Kirkland,	Quebec	and	Plattsburg,	New	York	facilities	were	closed,	and	operations	

in the Irvine, California location were restructured, 
•	 Manufacturing	operations	at	the	St.	Jerome,	Quebec	facility	were	reduced,	and
•	 A	Transitional	Services	Agreement	between	the	Company	and	NIKE,	Inc.,	related	to	the	leasing	of	certain	employees	located	

in the Taiwan office of NIKE, Inc. expired and was not extended.
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 The following table sets forth the cash components of the Company’s restructuring activities (in thousands):

  Severance and Other facility
  employee related costs closure costs Total

Liability	at	May	31,	2009		 $	 1,906	 $	 1,387	 $	 3,293
Charges		 	 (6)	 	 155	 	 149
Cash payments   (1,587)  (1,184)  (2,771)

Liability	at	May	31,	2010	 	 313	 	 358	 	 671	
Charges	 	 (68)	 	 213	 	 145
Cash payments   (245)  (305)  (550)

Liability	at	May	31,	2011	 $	 –	 $	 266	 $	 266
Less: current portion   –  (41)  (41)

Non-current portion $ – $ 225 $ 225

NOTE 20  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Commitments
The Company leases space for certain of its offices and warehouses under operating leases expiring from 1 to 12 years after 
May 31, 2011. Amounts of minimum future annual rental commitments under non-cancelable operating leases in each of the 
fiscal years ending May 31 are as follows (in thousands): 

  Operating Lease Payments

2012 $ 4,051
2013	 	 3,346
2014	 	 3,260
2015  2,584
2016	 	 1,340
Thereafter	 	 3,806

Total $ 18,387

 Certain of the leases contain renewal clauses for the extension of the lease for one or more renewal periods. The renewal lease 
rates are the fair market value at renewal or the higher of fair market value and a minimum agreed rate.
 Total contractual sublease rent to be received by the Company in future years amounted to $2,779,000 at May 31, 2011, and 
$5,108,000 at May 31, 2010. Rent expense, net of sublease income, included in the statements of operations for the years ended 
May	31,	2011	and	2010	was	$1,741,000	and	$1,066,000,	respectively.
 The Company enters into endorsement contracts with athletes and sports teams. Amounts of commitments under endorsement 
contracts in each of the fiscal years ending May 31 are as follows (in thousands): 

  Endorsement  Payments(1)

2012 $ 2,222
2013  1,234
2014  507
2015  455
2016	 	 455
Thereafter  20

Total $ 4,893

(1) The amounts listed for endorsement contracts represent approximate amounts of base compensation and minimum guaranteed royalty fees the Company 
is obligated to pay athlete and sport team endorsers of the Company’s products. Actual payments under some contracts may be higher than the amounts 
listed as these contracts provide for bonuses to be paid to the endorsers based upon athletic achievements and/or royalties on product sales in future periods. 
Actual payments under some contracts may also be lower as these contracts include provisions for reduced payments if athletic performance declines in 
future periods. In addition to the cash payments, the Company is obligated to furnish the endorsers with products for their use. It is not possible to determine 
how much the Company will spend on this product on an annual basis as the contracts do not stipulate a specific amount of cash to be spent on the product. 
The amount of product provided to the endorsers will depend on many factors including general playing conditions, the number of sporting events in which 
they participate, and the Company’s decisions regarding product and marketing initiatives. In addition, the costs to design, develop, source, and purchase 
the products furnished to the endorsers are incurred over a period of time and are not necessarily tracked separately from similar costs incurred for products 
sold to customers.

	 At	May	31,	2011,	the	Company	had	commitments	to	purchase	inventory	of	$55,267,000	and	non-inventory	of	$832,000.
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Contingencies
In connection with the formation of KSGI, a subsidiary of KSGI agreed to pay additional consideration to Nike in future periods, 
based upon the attainment of a qualifying exit event. At May 31, 2011, the maximum potential future consideration pursuant to such 
arrangements,	to	be	resolved	on	or	before	the	eighth	anniversary	of	April	16,	2008,	is	$10.0	million.	Upon	closing	of	the	Acquisition,	
all of the security holders of KSGI (collectively, the “Existing Holders”) entered into a reimbursement agreement with the Company 
pursuant to which each such Existing Holder agreed to reimburse the Company, on a pro rata basis, in the event that the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries are obligated to make a payment to Nike. 
 On April 22, 2010, the Company was served with a Motion to Institute a Class Action and Be Ascribed the Status of Representative 
that was filed in the Superior Court of the Province of Quebec, District of Montreal. The motion was filed by a person allegedly 
affected by the Company’s recall of certain hockey sticks. On October 4, 2010 the plaintiff offered to desist in its claims, without 
prejudice, apparently due to insufficient evidence to establish causation. The presiding judge is expected to approve the plaintiff’s 
withdrawal of the claim in 2011. As the withdrawal of the claims would be without prejudice, the plaintiff could seek reinstitution of the 
claims in the future. In management’s opinion, the likelihood of a material adverse outcome is remote. Accordingly, adjustments, if 
any, which might result from the ultimate resolution of this matter, have not been reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
 In addition to the matter above, in the ordinary course of its business, the Company is involved in various legal proceedings 
involving contractual and employment relationships, product liability claims, trademark rights, and a variety of other matters. The 
Company does not believe there are any pending legal proceedings that will have a material impact on the Company’s financial 
position or results of operations.

NOTE 21  CAPITAL DISCLOSURES

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to:
•	 Ensure	sufficient	liquidity	to	pursue	its	organic	growth	combined	with	strategic	acquisitions;	
•	 Provide	an	appropriate	return	on	investment	to	its	shareholders;	and	
•	 Maintain	a	flexible	capital	structure	that	optimizes	the	cost	of	capital	at	acceptable	risk	and	preserves	the	ability	to	meet	financial	

obligations.
 The capital structure of the Company consists of cash, short and long-term debt and shareholders’ equity. In managing its 
capital structure, the Company monitors performance throughout the year to ensure working capital requirements and capital 
expenditures are funded from operations, available cash on deposit and, where applicable, bank borrowings. The Company may 
make adjustments to its capital structure in order to support the broader corporate strategy or in light of economic conditions and 
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust its capital structure, the Company may issue shares 
or new debt, issue new debt to replace existing debt (with different characteristics), or reduce the amount of existing debt. The 
Company is subject to financial covenants pursuant to the credit facility agreements, which are measured on a quarterly basis. 
The Company is in compliance with all such covenants as of May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010.
 The Company has never declared or paid any cash dividends on its common shares. The Company currently intends to use 
its earnings to finance the expansion of its business and to reduce indebtedness. Any future determination to pay dividends on 
common shares will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors and will depend on, among other things, the Company’s results 
of operations, current and anticipated cash requirements and surplus, financial condition, contractual restrictions and financing 
agreement covenants, solvency tests imposed by corporate law and other factors that the Board of Directors may deem relevant.
 Total managed capital was as follows (in thousands):

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Total equity  $ 81,470 $ 82,825
Long-term debt (including current portion)   152,297  108,454
Cash   1,985  4,157

Total $ 235,752	 $	 195,436
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NOTE 22  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGES

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently measured based on their classification 
as described below. The Company classifies its financial instruments into various categories based on the purpose for which the 
financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics.
 Held-for-trading: Financial assets that are purchased and held with the intention of generating profits in the short-term are 
classified as held-for-trading. These investments are accounted for at fair value with the change in fair value recognized in the 
consolidated statements of operations in the period in which they arise. Any derivatives not designated as hedges are classified 
as held for trading as of May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010.
 Held-to-maturity: Securities that have a fixed maturity date and which the Company has a positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity and are accounted for at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 
The Company does not recognize gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of these instruments until the gains and 
losses are realized, or there is impairment in the value of an asset. When recognized, such gains and losses are recorded directly 
in net income. No investments are classified as held-to-maturity investments.
 Available-for-sale: Available-for sale investments are carried at fair market value, except where the instrument does not have a 
quoted market price in an active market, with foreign exchange and revaluation gains and losses included in other comprehensive 
income or loss until the gains and losses are realized when equities are sold in the market or there is impairment in the value. The 
Company does not have any assets classified as available-for-sale.
 Receivables: The Company’s accounts receivable are classified as current assets and are recorded at amortized cost, which 
upon their initial measurement is equal to their fair value. Subsequent measurement of trade receivables is at amortized cost, which 
usually corresponds to the amount initially recorded less any allowance for doubtful accounts.
 Other Financial Liabilities: Accounts payable, accrued liabilities, long-term debt and revolving credit facilities are classified as 
other financial liabilities and are measured at amortized cost. The fair value of the Company’s term loan borrowings is based on 
rates currently available to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities. Carrying value approximates fair 
value.
 Fair value of Financial Instruments: The Company has determined that the fair value of its cash, accounts receivable and 
financial liabilities (trade payables and accrued liabilities) approximates their respective carrying amounts as at the balance sheet 
dates due to their short-term nature. The fair value of the Company’s term loan borrowings is based on rates currently available 
to the Company for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities. Carrying value approximates fair value. The fair value of the 
Company’s senior subordinated promissory notes is estimated by discounting the future cash flow using the Company’s current 
borrowing rates for similar types and maturities of debt.
 Fair Value Hierarchy: The Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to 
measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to measurements involving significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 
measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
	 •	 Level	1	inputs	are	quoted	prices	(unadjusted)	in	active	markets	for	identical	assets	or	liabilities	that	the	Company	has	the	

ability to access at the measurement date.
	 •	 Level	2	inputs	are	inputs	other	than	quoted	prices	included	within	Level	1	that	are	observable	for	the	asset	or	liability,	either	

directly or indirectly.
	 •	 Level	3	inputs	are	unobservable	inputs	for	the	asset	or	liability.
 The level in the fair value hierarchy within which a fair measurement in its entirety falls is based on the lowest level input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.
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 The following tables present the placement in the fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on 
a recurring basis at May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 (in thousands):

  Fair value measurements at reporting date using

   Quoted prices in Significant Significant
   active markets for other observable unobservable
   identical assets inputs inputs
  May 31, 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Liabilities: 
 Foreign currency forward contracts $ 9,497 $ – $ 9,497 $ –

  Fair value measurements at reporting date using

   Quoted prices in Significant Significant
   active markets for other observable unobservable
   identical assets inputs inputs
  May 31, 2010 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Assets: 
 Foreign exchange swaps $ 1,841 $ – $ 1,841 $ –
	 Foreign	currency	forward	contracts	 $	 1,627	 $	 –	 $	 1,627	 $	 –

	 	 $	 3,468	 $	 –	 $	 3,468	 $	 –

Liabilities: 
 Foreign currency forward contracts $ 535 $ – $ 535 $ –

NOTE 23  RISK

The Company has exposure to credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk (which consists of foreign exchange risk and interest rate 
risk) from its use of financial instruments. The Company’s management reviews these risks regularly as a result of changes in the 
market conditions as well as the Company’s activities.
 Credit risk: Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations. The Company is subject to concentrations of credit risk through its accounts receivable and is influenced primarily 
by the individual characteristics of the customer, which management periodically assesses through its policy for the allowance 
for doubtful accounts as described above. The demographics of the Company’s accounts receivable, including the industry and 
country in which customers operate, have less influence on credit risk. In the year ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, net revenues to a 
single customer were 11% and 9% of total net revenues, respectively. The aging of trade receivables is as follows (in thousands):

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Current  $ 72,174 $ 57,244
Past	due	0-60	days		 	 4,672  3,902
Past	due	over	61	days		 	 8,187  10,050

Trade receivables   85,033	 	 71,196
Other receivables - current   7,488  5,418
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts   (2,042)  (2,283)
Less: allowance for returns and discounts   (1,661)  (2,259)

Total $ 88,818) $ 72,072
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 Other receivables at May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 include the current portion of a receivable in the amount of $2,482,000 and 
$1,948,000, respectively, from a supplier for costs incurred related to a product recall. The long-term portion of this receivable is 
reflected	in	other	non-current	assets	in	the	consolidated	balance	sheets	and	totaled	$569,000	and	$2,253,000,	respectively,	as	
of May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010. The Company is not aware of any circumstances that would cause any of its other receivables 
to be impaired.
 Liquidity risk: Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company manages its liquidity risk through cash and debt management. See Note 21 – Capital Disclosures for a more detailed 
discussion. 
 Interest rate risk: The Company is exposed to interest rate risk on the revolving credit line and the term loan on the Old Facility 
and its replacement, the New Facility, as the rate on both facilities is based on an index rate. For the year ended May 31, 2011 and 
2010, a 25 basis-point increase or decrease in interest rates, assuming that all other variables are constant, would have resulted in 
a	$236,000	and	$213,000,	respectively,	decrease	or	increase	in	the	Company’s	net	income.		In	July	2008	the	Company	entered	into	
an interest rate cap agreement with Fifth Third Bank to reduce market risk associated with changes in interest rates related to the 
term loan component of the Old Facility. The agreement caps, at 5%, the Canadian Banker’s Acceptance interest rate applicable 
on	the	term	loan	amount	of	$21,151,200	Canadian	dollars	adjusted	for	quarterly	principal	payments,	through	April	16,	2011.	
 Foreign exchange risk: The Company is exposed to global market risks, including the effect of changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates and interest rates, and uses derivatives to manage financial exposures that occur in the normal course of business. 
The Company uses foreign exchange swaps and foreign currency forward contracts to hedge anticipated transactions. On May 31, 
2011, a 1% increase or decrease in the exchange rate of the Canadian dollar compared to the U.S. dollar, assuming that all other 
variables are constant, would have resulted in a $10,000 increase (decrease) in the Company’s net income for the year ended May 
31, 2011 and a $20,000 increase (decrease)  in the Company’s net income for the year ended May 31, 2010. The foreign exchange 
swaps and foreign currency forward contracts are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The Company has not 
elected hedge accounting and therefore the changes in the fair value of these derivatives are recognized in unrealized losses (gains) 
on derivative instruments in the consolidated statements of operations. In April 2008, the Company entered into a foreign exchange 
swap	agreement	with	Rabo	Capital	Services,	Inc.	This	agreement	exchanges	a	notional	amount	of	$26,338,000	Canadian	dollars	
for	$26,000,000	U.S.	dollars	at	October	2013.	Under	the	terms	of	the	swap	agreement,	the	Company	will	pay	the	counterparty	a	
fixed	rate	of	12.455%	on	the	$26,338,000	Canadian	dollar	debt	and	will	receive	a	fixed	rate	of	12%	on	the	$26,000,000	U.S.	dollar	
debt	on	a	quarterly	basis	through	October	2013.	On	March	16,	2011,	the	foreign	exchange	swap	agreement	with	Rabo	Capital	
Services, Inc. was assigned to HSBC Bank USA, N.A. and terminated prior to its maturity. As a result of the swap termination, the 
Company	exchanged	a	notional	amount	of	$26,338,000	Canadian	dollars	for	$26,000,000	U.S.	dollars	and	realized	a	settlement	
loss of $800,000 Canadian dollars. The settlement loss is included in realized losses on derivative instruments in the consolidated 
statements of operations in the year ended May 31, 2011.
 The Company uses foreign currency forward contracts as an economic hedge to offset the effects of exchange rate fluctuations 
on certain of its forecasted foreign currency denominated sales and cost of sales transactions. The Company’s cash flow exposures 
include recognized and anticipated foreign currency transactions, such as foreign currency denominated sales, costs of goods sold, 
as well as collections and payments. The risk in these exposures is the potential for losses associated with the remeasurement 
of nonfunctional currency cash flows into the functional currency. During the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company 
entered into various forward contracts with Fifth Third Bank and PNC Bank to hedge its Canadian dollar currency risk. As of  
May 31, 2011, the Company had forward contracts, maturing at various dates through May 2013, to buy the equivalent of 
$220,500,000 in foreign currencies at contracted rates. During the years ended May 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company realized net 
losses	of	$2,033,000	and	$5,360,000,	respectively,	from	foreign	currency	forward	contracts.	The	losses	are	included	in	realized	
losses on derivative instruments in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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 The fair values of derivative instruments held as of May 31, 2011 and May 31, 2010 (in thousands): 

  Asset derivatives 

  May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010 

  B/S Location Fair value B/S Location Fair value

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
 Foreign exchange swaps  Other non-   Other non-
  current assets $ – current assets $ 1,841
 Foreign currency forward contracts Other   Other
	 	 current	assets	 	 –	 current	assets	 	 1,627

	 Total	 	 $	 –	 	 $	 3,468

  Liability derivatives 

  May 31, 2011 May 31, 2010 

  B/S Location Fair value B/S Location Fair value

Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments
 Foreign currency forward contracts  Accrued liabilities $ 7,372 Accrued liabilities $ 535
 Foreign currency forward contracts Other non-   Other non-
  current liabilities  2,125 current liabilities  –

 Total  $ 9,497  $ 535

 The changes in the fair value of foreign exchange swaps recorded in earnings are summarized below (in thousands):

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Fair value of contracts outstanding at beginning of the period  $ 1,841	 $	 2,695
Net change in fair value - unrealized loss  (1,931)	 	 (863)
Exchange rate gain   90  9

Fair value of contracts outstanding at end of the period $ – $ 1,841

 The changes in the fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts recorded in earnings are summarized below (in thousands):

  Year ended

  May 31, 2011  May 31, 2010

Fair value of contracts outstanding at beginning of the period  $ 1,092 $ (4,440)
Net change in fair value - unrealized gain (loss)  (10,450)	 	 5,666
Exchange rate gain (loss)  (139)  (134)

Fair value of contracts outstanding at end of the period $ (9,497) $ 1,092

 The net changes in fair value are included in unrealized losses (gains) on derivative instruments in the consolidated statements 
of operations.
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